
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 10 October 2022.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 

 
 

Tuesday, 18 October 2022 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's 

Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 
Cabinet 
Members: 

 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 
Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for Waste Services and Climate Change 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing 

 
 

 

Agenda 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date, via the  

SKDC YouTube Channel 

 
1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence  

   
2.   Minutes of the previous meeting 

Minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2022. 
(Pages 3 - 12) 

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests  

   

Cabinet 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

 

 Items for recommendation to Council 
 

4.   Remediation works for St Martin's Park, Stamford 
To provide the Committee with an update regarding the demolition works at the 

former Cummins factory, known as the St. Martin’s Park development scheme 

and outline the next steps with remediating the site prior to its disposal.   

(Pages 13 - 19) 

   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Key 

 
5.   Housing Compensation Policy 

In common with all social landlords, the Council is obliged in some 
circumstances to make payments to tenants or leaseholders to 
compensate them for loss or inconvenience. The Housing 
Compensation Policy is intended to provide clarity of the circumstances, 
both discretionary and statutory, where it is appropriate such payments 
will be made. 

(Pages 21 - 47) 

   
6.   Housing Recharge Policy 

The Council is required, as a social landlord, to incur costs that arise from 

works which are normally the responsibility of the tenant, including repair of 

damage, pest control, and property cleans and clearances.  The Housing 

Recharge Policy seeks to define the circumstances where such recharges are 

appropriate and make clear the Council’s intention to recover such costs. 

(Pages 49 - 66) 

   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Non-Key 

 
7.   Local Development Scheme for the Local Plan 

To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 

seeking approval of a revision to the timetable associated with the Local 

Development Scheme (LDS).   

(Pages 67 - 96) 

   
 Items for information 

 
8.   Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 

This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet 

Members since the last meeting of the Cabinet on 22 September 2022. 

(Pages 97 - 100) 

   
9.   Cabinet's Forward Plan 

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan. 
(Pages 101 - 107) 

   



 

 

Minutes 
Cabinet 
Thursday, 22 September 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
  
Cabinet Members present  
  
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy 
Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for Waste Services and Climate 
Change 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing 
 
Non-Cabinet Members present 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
 
Officers 

 

Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer) 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Richard Wyles (Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer) 
 
Anne-Marie Coulthard (Assistant Director of Operations and Public Protection)  
Alison Hall-Wright (Assistant Director of Finance) 
Karen Whitfield (Assistant Director of Culture and Leisure) 
Chris Prime (Interim Communications Manager) 
Debbie Roberts (Organisational Development and Business Support Manager)  
James Welbourn (Democratic Services Manager) 
 
Patrick Astill (Communications Officer) 
Sam Fitt (Corporate Project Lead) 
Molly-Mae Taylor (Communications Officer 

 

  
  
  
 
 
 

3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

29. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Adam Stokes and Robert 
Reid. 
 
A minute’s silence was held at the start of the meeting to remember Her Late Majesty 
Queen Elizabeth II, and the late Councillor Judy Smith. 
 
30. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 12 July 2022 were confirmed as a 
correct record. 
 
31. Disclosure of Interests 
 
There were no declarations of interests at this stage of the meeting. 
 
32. Corporate Asset Management Strategy 
 
Purpose of report  
 
To seek approval for a Corporate Asset Management Strategy, providing the Council 
with a clear and consistent approach to a strategic management of corporate land 
and buildings, outlining how the use of the Council’s assets would support the 
delivery of the Council’s priorities. 
 
Decision  
 
That Cabinet:  
 

1. Approves the adoption of the Corporate Asset Management Strategy 2022 – 
2027.  
 

2. Delegates to the Director of Housing and Property authority to make minor 
amendments to the Strategy as needed by changes to regulation or 
legislation. 
 

Alternative options considered and rejected  
 
The continuation with current customs and practice was not recommended as this 
may have led to a missed opportunity to support the delivery of the Council’s 
Corporate Plan. 
 
Undertaking repairs on a purely responsive basis was not recommended as this 
tended to be more costly than planned maintenance and may have impacted on the 
delivery of services. 
 
Aiming for a higher standard of building condition than that proposed was not 
recommended due to the financial implications of exceeding a satisfactory condition. 
 

4



 

 

Reason for decision 
 
The adoption of the Corporate Asset Management Strategy would continue to 
strengthen the Council’s management of its assets, providing greater assurance that 
they were safe and complied with statutory requirements as well as creating the 
opportunity to improve the quality and value for money of the services they could 
deliver. The foundations of this process would require robust data and process, 
increased capacity, and strong governance and decision-making. 
 
The Council’s Corporate Plan contained a specific action to adopt a Corporate Asset 
Management Strategy (AMS), linked to the Corporate Plan priority of being a ‘High-
Performing Council’. 
 
Recent achievements listed by the Leader of the Council included the upcoming 
relocation of the corporate headquarters to St. Catherine’s Road, Grantham, and the 
vacation of the existing St. Peters’ Hill offices. 
 
33. Asset Transfer to Stamford Town Council 
 
Purpose of report  
 
To set out proposals for the freehold transfer of specified assets to Stamford Town 
Council. 
 
Decision  
 
That Cabinet:  
 

1. Approves the freehold transfer of the public conveniences and the upper floor 
at Red Lion Square Stamford to Stamford Town Council for a nominal 
consideration of £1.  

 
2. Approves the disposal of the land at West Street Stamford to Stamford Town 

Council for a nominal consideration of £1.  
 
Alternative options considered and rejected  
 
To not approve the asset transfers as set out in the report; this would result in the 
Council continuing to own and maintain two assets and incur the operational costs of 
each. The decisions enable the assets to be transferred to the local Town Council 
enabling local ownership. 
 
Reason for decision 
 
The Council engaged with local parishes to identify Council owned assets that could 
be transferred to local ownership in order to enhance responsibility and meet local 
operational requirements. 
 
Positive dialogue with Stamford Town Council had led to the discovery of two such 
Council owned assets in Stamford; public conveniences (and the upper vacant floor) 

5



 

 

at Red Lion Square and the land at West Street Stamford. The assets would be 
transferred on an existing use basis to ensure there was no adverse financial impact 
on South Kesteven District Council (SKDC). 
 
The Council had the benefit of a general consent from the Secretary of State for such 
disposals with an undervalue of less than £2million as long as the proposal 
contributed to the promotion of economic, social, or environmental wellbeing in its 
area. This would be achieved by placing the ownership and maintenance of these 
assets in the hands of the local community (through the Town Council).  
 
The following points were noted during discussion: 
 

• The assets would be disposed of for a nominal sum whilst the use of them 
would be legally protected. 

• The Leader of the Council was present at the meeting of Stamford Town 
Council (STC) where the transfer of these assets was discussed. A 
unanimous decision to approve the transfer was reached during that meeting. 

• The transfer of the assets was in the best interests of both STC and South 
Kesteven District Council (SKDC). SKDC would save around £30,000 per 
year by transferring ownership of the assets, whilst STC would be best placed 
to make best use of the assets by being at the heart of that community. 

 
34. Use of the ESPO Liquid Fuel Framework for the Procurement of Diesel 

Fuel 
 
Purpose of report  
 
The Council currently utilises an ESPO Framework for the procurement of diesel fuel. 
ESPO was establishing a new framework agreement for the provision of liquid fuels 
from 1 October 2022. Agreement was sought to utilise this Framework. 
 
Decision  
 
That Cabinet approves the utilisation of the ESPO Liquid Fuel Framework for the 
procurement of diesel fuel from 1 October 2022 until the expiration of the Framework 
on 30 September 2026. 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected  
 
The Council could go directly out to the market, however, it was considered that this 
was unlikely to lead to a more competitive alternative, as the benefits of the 
economies of scale bought about by using the Framework would not be available. 
 
Reason for decision 
 
Except for two electric pool cars, the Council’s vehicle fleet was entirely comprised of 
diesel vehicles. Whilst opportunities to replace vehicles with alternative fuel 
equivalents were being explored, it was anticipated that diesel vehicles would 
continue to be part of the fleet until at least the expiration of the Framework. 
 

6



 

 

The new framework agreement operated in a different way to its previous iteration; 
previously there was one supplier per region, but now there were a number of 
suppliers, which allowed for a greater degree of flexibility and competition. 
 
As the Council’s volume usage was standard (approximately 2,500 litres per day) 
and requirements were not complex, the framework provider strongly recommended 
that a direct award be made to the most suitable supplier. This ensured the continuity 
of supply as committing to purchase fuel from one supplier would foster commitment 
from the supplier to the customer and ensure preferential deliveries in times of fuel 
supply disruption or driver shortages. This was essential for business continuity to 
enable the Council to continue to deliver essential services such as household waste 
collections and housing maintenance. The Council’s approved budget for diesel fuel 
for 2022/23 was £712,750. 
 
The following points were raised during discussion: 
 

• The cost of diesel fuel could potentially rise by an additional £200,000 in year. 
However, being part of the ESPO framework enabled SKDC to make savings 
as diesel would be procured in bulk. 

• The use of the new framework would help ease pricing pressures on fuel. 

• Whilst electric vehicles would be used where possible, it was unlikely that 
vehicles using the most fuel, such as refuse lorries, would have this option in 
the short term. 

 
35. Essential works relating to new Council Offices, St Catherine's Road, 

Grantham 
 
Purpose of report  
 
To set out progress made in relation to the decision to relocate to the Council’s new 
offices, located in St Catherine’s Road, Grantham and to recommend entering into a 
contract for the delivery of associated works, using approved funds. 
 
Decision  
 
That Cabinet:  
 

1. Delegates authority for the Director of Housing and Property, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property to enter 
into a contract with Lindum Construction Group for the required works to 
the new office space up to a value not exceeding £250k. 

 
2. Delegates authority for the S151 Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet 

Member for Housing and Property, to allocate the remaining approved 
funding in respect of further minor works, ICT and furniture in order to 
ensure a smooth relocation. 

 
 
 
 

7



 

 

Alternative options considered and rejected  
 
To proceed with the relocation without remodelling the office space. This would not 
have provided the Council with facilities that met its aspirations in terms of decent, 
modern facilities that provide the environment to affect the cultural change that the 
Council aspires to. 
 
Not proceeding with the work would cause delays to the progression of the relocation 
and would result in the Council continuing to incur the operational costs of the 
underutilised offices at a time of rising utility charges. 
 
Reasons for decision 
 
The award of the refurbishment contract would enable the Council to complete the 
move from the offices at St. Peter’s Hill, enabling staff to be brought together in a 
modern space, providing benefits in terms of environmental standards, technology 
and breaking down ‘silo working culture’.  
 
The move would see the Council occupying less than one third of the space that it 
currently occupied in the outdated St. Peter’s Hill offices. 
 
Vacation of the current St. Peter’s Hill office space would allow the Council to offer 
full vacant possession to a new owner, allow for the repurposing or redevelopment of 
the building to enhance the town centre and deliver ongoing savings when comparing 
the running costs of St. Peter’s Hill offices and the new St. Catherine’s Road offices. 
 
 
The following points were raised during discussion: 
 

• Entering into the contract for essential works reflected the business need of 
the Council. The existing space was old-fashioned and did not support 
collaborative working. In preparation for the move to the new office, 
hotdesking and flexible working had been gradually phased in. 

• The amount of office space was being reduced, and this was aided by 
introducing mobile technology in an organisational-wide programme, breaking 
down the old-fashioned silo of working every day from the office. 

• There had been opportunities for staff to view the new office space, through 
advertised, dedicated open days, and also through charity ‘coffee and cake’ 
mornings. 

• Conversations with Lincolnshire County Council over the creation of the public 
sector hub were continuing productively. 

• The new working space would create a positive working environment for staff, 
and there would be no disruption for residents. The site was complete with 
excellent accessibility. 

• With the increase in fuel prices, it made sense to move into a more fuel-
efficient building. The building had many benefits from a climate change 
perspective; it was built to a modern standard and would have a positive 
impact on SKDC’s carbon footprint compared to the current offices at St. 
Peter’s Hill. 

8



 

 

• The University of Lincoln no longer required the space at St. Catherine’s 
Road. The Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) were aware of the current plans 
for the building, and any conversations with them would be reported back to 
Council, if necessary. 

 
36. Replacement of Gym Equipment at Bourne Leisure Centre 
 
Note: Prior to consideration of item 36, Councillors Kelham Cooke and Rosemary 

Trollope-Bellew, and the Chief Executive and the Director of Growth and 
Culture declared an interest due to being board members of Leisure SK. They 
left the Council Chamber at this stage and took no part in the debate or the 
vote. 

 
In the absence of the Leader of the Council, members moved, seconded, and 
appointed the Cabinet Member for Waste Service and Climate Change as the 
Chairman for this item only. 
 
This item had been added to the Cabinet agenda as an urgent report and would not 
be subject to the call-in process. 
 
Purpose of report  
 
To consider an amendment to the in-year budget framework and provide a loan to 
LeisureSK Ltd to finance the purchase of gym equipment at Bourne Leisure Centre. 
 
Decision  
 
That Cabinet:  
 

1. Approves the addition of £137,000 to the capital budget for 2022/23 to provide 
a loan to LeisureSK Ltd to facilitate a refurbishment of the gym area and 
equipment at Bourne Leisure Centre.  
 

2. Delegates to the Chief Finance Officer to agree the terms and conditions of the 
loan and sign the loan agreement on behalf of the Council. 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected  
 
The options for LeisureSK Ltd to either directly purchase the equipment or enter a 
lease arrangement had been fully considered. It had been established that it was 
financially beneficial for the Council to finance the cost of refurbishing the gym at 
Bourne Leisure Centre via a loan arrangement.  
 
The option not to invest in the gym area at Bourne Leisure Centre had been 
discounted by the Board of Directors for LeisureSK Ltd. Without this investment, it 
would become increasingly difficult to attract and retain customers to the centre. 
 
 
 
 

9



 

 

Reason for decision 
 
At their September 2022 meeting, the Board of Directors for LeisureSK Ltd. 
considered a report concerning the equipment provision at Bourne Leisure Centre. It 
was thought that the age of the equipment in place there was more than 8 years old, 
beyond the accepted lifespan as advised by the leisure industry. Work had taken 
place with suppliers to identify the costs of providing new equipment; these costings 
would include the removal of the old equipment as well as installation of the 
replacement items. All servicing and maintenance costs for five years would also be 
covered. The most cost-effective solution for Bourne Leisure Centre would be the 
refurbishment of the gym equipment. 
 
The Directors of LeisureSK Ltd. approved the proposal to undertake a replacement of 
the gym equipment at Bourne Leisure Centre. Work was carried out by SKDC’s 
finance team to assess the impact of SKDC providing a loan to help meet this 
proposal. 
 
The resolutions within the report provided the optimal financial outcome for SKDC 
and the planned refurbishment of the gym at Bourne Leisure Centre would have a 
significant impact on improving income and aiding the recruitment and retention of 
customers. 
 
The investment in new equipment for Bourne Leisure Centre demonstrated the 
Council’s ongoing commitment to ensuring there were opportunities for residents to 
improve their mental and physical wellbeing by adopting a healthy lifestyle. The new 
gym equipment would also support wider activity, including an extension of the GP 
Referral scheme, ensuring that residents with health conditions were supported and 
benefitted from improved health outcomes. 
 
The following points were raised during discussion: 
 

• December was traditionally a quiet period for leisure centres; therefore, it 
would be prudent to start the process of ordering equipment now so that the 
installation could take place during this quiet time. 

• The results of the full conditions survey at the three operational leisure centres 
had been received by SKDC officers. The priority for Bourne Leisure Centre 
was health and safety. Building works had been scheduled for the roof, fire 
doors and boiler. 

 
37. People Strategy 2022-2025 
 
Note:  Councillors Kelham Cooke and Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, and the Chief 

Executive and the Director of Growth and Culture rejoined the meeting. 
Councillor Kelham Cooke resumed the chairing of the meeting. 

 
Purpose of report  
 
To communicate the Employment Committee’s recommendation to Cabinet that the 
People Strategy 2022 – 2025 be approved. 
 

10



 

 

Decision  
 
That Cabinet:  
 
1. Approves the People Strategy 2022 – 2025. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected  
 
One option considered was not having an updated People Strategy. If this option 
were taken there would be no clear message to staff of how the Council intended to 
deliver the objectives of the Corporate Plan 2020 – 2023 to ensure that SKDC was a 
high performing Council that attracted and retained the best staff to deliver high-
quality services. 
 
Reason for decision 
 
The People Strategy was designed to inspire and achieve widespread, organisation-
wide alignment on the Council’s goals and priorities through its employees. The six 
different themes of the Strategy were: 
 

• Recruitment – focussing on attracting the right people; 

• Development – training and developing skills to create high performing 
employees; 

• Engagement – interacting with the workforce, strengthening employee 
engagement and inspiring staff members; 

• Diversity – recognising the benefits and strengths that having a diverse 
workforce brought; 

• Reward and Recognition – setting out how to attract and motivate staff; and; 

• Wellbeing – focussing on a safe and healthy working environment for 
employees. 

 
The People Strategy formed part of the thread from the Corporate Plan through to 
service and team plans and individual objectives and incorporated the Council’s 
values and behaviours. It was designed to evolve with the needs of the Council and 
its employees. 
 
Recent years had been challenging for staff, many of whom had had to work harder 
to adapt and keep services running throughout a global pandemic; this had an impact 
on staff wellbeing.  
 
The People Strategy could help staff understand the value of their efforts and how to 
access the support they needed to maximise their potential. Another forum through 
which staff could raise concerns and ask questions was the People Panel, an internal 
meeting including staff from different departments across the Council.  
 
It was key to ensure there was an up to date People Strategy which would help the 
Council deliver against its priorities and deliver the vision of the Corporate Plan. The 
People Strategy had been recommended to Cabinet by the Employment Committee. 
 

11



 

 

38. Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 
 
Cabinet noted Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under delegated powers since the 
previous meeting, as set out in the report. 
 
39. Cabinet's Forward Plan 
 
Cabinet noted its Forward Plan. It was noted by Cabinet that the item on 
Replacement Gym Equipment at Bourne Leisure Centre was not present on the 
Forward Plan in the agenda pack; this was due to it being an urgent report that was 
not present at the time the agenda was published. 
 
 

12



 
 

       

Cabinet  
 
 

18th October 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Kelham Cooke, 
The Leader of the Council  
 
 

 

 

Remediation Works for St. Martin’s Park, 

Stamford  
 

Report Author 

Debbie Roberts, Head of Projects, Policy, and Performance  

  Debbie.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

To provide the Committee with an update regarding the demolition works at the former 

Cummins factory, known as the St. Martin’s Park development scheme and outline the 

next steps with remediating the site prior to its disposal.   

 

 

Recommendations 

That the Cabinet: 

1. Notes the update regarding the project. 

2. Approves the budget of £192,630.23, to be met from the regeneration 
reserve, for the additional expenditure incurred in the contract with GF 
Tomlinson for the demolition. Authority to be delegated to the S151 Officer 
in consultation with the Leader of the Council to pay for the additional 
works above the original £1.303m.  

3. To note that Members will receive a subsequent report on the remediation 
costs once the strategy has been finalised and will seek approval for the 
budget for those works at Council.   

 

 

13

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Debbie.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

Growth and our Economy 

 

Which wards are impacted? Stamford St Marys  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 The demolition contract was awarded to GF Tomlinson via the SCAPE framework 

and the contract sum of £1.303m is monitored monthly as part of the client 

meetings. There are additional items that have been instructed to the contract that 

were unforeseen at the time of award. In accordance with the financial regulations 

and Constitution the value is below that requiring additional budget from Council 

currently. It is therefore recommended that the sum of £192,630.23 is met from 

the regeneration reserve to meet the additional spend on the project.  

 

1.2 A subsequent report seeking further budget will be required by Council for the 

remediation works which is on the forward plan for November 2022.  The 

regeneration reserve has been consistently used as the funding source for the 

holding and preparatory works, but the balance of the reserve will require 

increasing should there be further costs incurred.  This review will be undertaken 

in the context of other revenue reserves that require replenishment. 

Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

Legal and Governance 

 

1.3 The contract is reviewed monthly, there are no legal requirements. Additional 

items can be included in a contract via the framework through project manager 

instructions.  

Alan Robinson, Monitoring Officer  

Risk and Mitigation 

 

1.4 Construction risks are reviewed monthly as part of the project and mitigation 

identified where possible.  

14



Health and Safety 

 

1.5 Construction Health and Safety is reviewed, and spot check visits conducted by 

the contractor’s Health and Safety advisors.  

 

2. Background to the Report 

 
In March 2019 the Council purchased land at Barnack Road, Stamford, which 

adjoins land owned by Burghley Land Limited (BLL), a wholly owned subsidiary of 

Burghley House Preservation Trust. The land was purchased by the Council as 

being strategically important to the Council’s growth ambitions in Stamford.  

 

The development is also included in the Corporate Plan 2020-2023 with a key 

action for its delivery under the corporate priority of ‘Growth and Our Economy’.  

 

These adjacent land holdings, known as St Martin's Park, extend to approximately 

14 hectares (36 acres). The sites have been marketed for a mixed-use 

development including commercial, residential and retirement units along with 

associated public open space, car parking, retail, and infrastructure. These uses 

are subject to an outline planning consent which has been approved by the Local 

Planning Authority and has a completed Section 106 agreement which includes 

demolition of the Cummins factory and associated buildings.  

 

A map below is of the land known as St Martin’s Park, the land edged red is in the 

Council’s ownership and shows the extensive number of buildings requiring 

demolition.  

 

  
 

 

15



At Full Council on the 27th of January 2022 the Council approved the following 

recommendations:  

 

1. Council approves the budget of £1.303m in order to provide funding for the 
demolition of the buildings at St. Martin’s Park Stamford.   

 
2. Approve the demolition of the buildings and delegate authority to the Chief 

Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and S151 Officer to enter 

into a contract with GF Tomlinson to undertake the works within the allocated 

budget.  

 

3. To note that at a future Council meeting further approval will be required for the 

remediation costs for the land and seek approval for the disposal of the asset for a 

capital receipt.  

4. Council is asked to approve a reserve movement of £500k from the Local Priorities 

Reserve to the Regeneration Reserve in order to ensure there is sufficient funding 

in the Regeneration Reserve to finance the demolition works of £1.303m. 
 

A contract with GF Tomlinson Ltd was entered into on the 18th of March 2022 for the 

sum of £1,303,981.92 and contractors were mobilised on the 18th of April 2022 after 

obtaining discharge of the relevant planning conditions required before 

commencement. It is to be noted that no contingency was included in the contract 

sum of £1.303,981.92.  

 

There were numerous buildings on site requiring demolition after they were soft 

stripped internally plus all asbestos was removed   A plan below shows the scale of 

the demolition required.  

 

16



In the original programme produced by GF Tomlinson the scheme was broken 

down into phases with demolition works anticipated to take 36 weeks to complete. 

To monitor this programme, the contract sum and progress on site monthly client 

meetings have taken place. A report is issued to the client from the contractors, a 

site walk around and then formal meeting takes place when the Project Manager 

and Contract Manager present their update. A Quantity Surveyor from GF 

Tomlinson is also present to discuss the finances and any additional Instructions 

are formally issued. 

 

The contract management was discussed at a meeting of the Finance, Economic 

and Corporate Services Committee (FEDCS) on the 27th of September 2022 where 

all of the monthly client meeting papers were shared and reviewed.  

  

The plan below shows the areas completed (as of 2.9.22). The only buildings left 

on site currently are the 1904 building and part of the office attached to it.  

 

 
As of the latest client report there has been Project Manager Instructions (PMI) for 

additional works totalling £192,630.23. These works include surveys, unexpected 

additional asbestos removal and utility disconnections therefore not included in the 

original contract sum. The additional items in full are:  

 

17



 
It is therefore requested that Cabinet approve the additional sum of £192,630.23 

for these items due to no contingency being included in the original contract sum 

and final accounts from GF Tomlinson will require paying.  

 

As part of the 27th of January 2022 Council report, it was highlighted that once the 

remediation strategy has been agreed and costed then a subsequent report 

requesting the budget for the remediation works will be required by Council. 

Included in that report could also be the costs for demolishing the 1904 building 

and office block (subject to a Prior Notification application) which are being priced 

at the time of publishing this report, if there is an additional cost for this piece of 

work.  

 
For completeness of this report these works to demolish and remediate the site 

are required to be finished prior to selling the site to developer parties. The sales 

contracts will be completed once these vendors works are finished.  

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 This report is to provide Members with an update on progress and provide 

assurance that there are substantial governance arrangements in place. The 

contract overspend has occurred for additional, unplanned items that have 

become apparent once on site.  

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 Option 1 – not to pay GF Tomlinson for these additional items (which would be a 

breach of contract)  

4.2 Option 2 – approve the additional costs for unexpected works that have been 

required on site.  

 

 

 

18



5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 Option 2 - The Council is obligated to demolish and remediate its part of the site 

prior to disposing to the developer parties to deliver the housing, retirement village 

and commercial space.   

 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 Public consultation was undertaken prior to and as part of the planning process.  

 

6.2      GF Tomlinson produce monthly residents update letters and circulate via these 

leaflet drops.  

 

6.3  FEDCS have received an update on the project at their last meeting and duly 

noted it.  

 

7. Background Papers 
 

7.1 Council report 27th January 2022  

 FEDCS report 27th September 2022  

 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2022  
 
Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 
 

 

 

Housing Compensation Policy 
 

Report Author 

Jodie Archer, Head of Housing Services 

  Jodie.archer@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

In common with all social landlords, the Council is obliged in some circumstances to 
make payments to tenants or leaseholders to compensate them for loss or 
inconvenience. The Housing Compensation Policy is intended to provide clarity of the 
circumstances, both discretionary and statutory, where it is appropriate such payments 
will be made. 
 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet: 

1. Notes the content of the report. 

2. Approves the Housing Compensation Policy.  

3. Delegates to the Director of Housing and Property authority to make minor 
amendments to the Housing Compensation Policy as required by changes 
to regulation or legislation. 

 

 

 

 

21

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? Yes 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities? 

Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

 

Which wards are impacted? All 

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, staffing, 

community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 The Policy sets out a framework that should ensure there is a consistent and 

uniformed approach to responding to a service failure through a compensation 

policy.  Given that this is an acknowledgement of poor performance or service 

failure it is important to ensure that improvements are identified and implemented 

in order to reduce the reputational and financial risks.  There will need to be clear 

lines of approval for any such payments supported by record keeping identifying 

the approval process.  It is necessary in some instances to notify the Council’s 

insurers of specific service failures so it is important that Housing Services notify 

the Council’s Governance and Risk officer in order to ensure the most appropriate 

process is followed.  

Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 There is a statutory requirement for a Local Authority Landlord to have a 

compensation policy for statutory and discretionary compensation.   

 

Diversity and Inclusion 

 

1.3 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for the policy was undertaken and signed off 

by one of the Council’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Champions, this can be 

found at Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment – Housing Compensation 

Policy.  Any negative impacts can be mitigated, and these are demonstrated in the 

EIA. 

22



 

1.4 There are no safeguarding issues identified. 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1 The Council has a clear commitment in its Corporate Plan 2020-2023 to provide 

“Housing that meets the needs of all residents”.  As a stock-retained local 

authority, the Council has circa 5,900 properties.  The Council has long-

established custom and practice in terms of both compensation and recharges, 

but no clear policies have been adopted.  This report seeks Cabinet approval for 

separate policies covering both compensation and recharges. 

2.2 Cabinet is aware of and has welcomed the clear shift to greater tenant 

engagement and increased clarity and powers given to the Regulator of Social 

Housing and the Housing Ombudsman.  The adoption of clear policies evidences 

the Council’s commitment to meet all its statutory and regulatory obligations.   

 Housing Compensation Policy   

2.3 The Council is committed to ensuring that it meets all housing-related statutory 

compensation payment obligations.  The Council also recognises that there may 

be occasions where its service fails and a discretionary compensation payment 

may be appropriate, such as where inconvenience is caused, or as a gesture of 

goodwill and apology. 

2.4 The Housing Compensation Policy sets out the grounds and basis upon which 

compensation may be awarded in relation to our statutory obligations and 

discretionary payments. It includes the following:  

• Statutory compensation, which includes Right to Compensation for 
Improvements; Right to Repair; Home Loss payments; and Statutory 
Disturbance payments. 

• Discretionary compensation, which includes quantifiable loss payments 
(where tenants can demonstrate actual loss) and discretionary payments 
(for time and trouble/distress and inconvenience).  For example, temporary 
loss of amenities or loss of use of part of the property. 

 

2.5 The Policy confirms there are some situations where compensation will not be 

considered, for example: 

• claims for personal injury 

• claims for damage caused by circumstances beyond the Council’s control 
(e.g., through storm or flooding) 

• issues caused by a third party not working for the Council; and  

• problems resulting from tenant failure to act reasonably (e.g., refusing to 
allow access for repairs). 

2.6 As noted above, the Housing Ombudsman has an increased role in determining if 

a landlord has failed to act reasonably and provides determinations on complaints 

23



it receives.   The Housing Ombudsman can only order compensation when they 

have found that there has been maladministration and will consider the following:  

actual, proven financial loss sustained as a direct result of the maladministration or 

service failure, and/or avoidable inconvenience, distress, detriment or other unfair 

impact of the maladministration or service failure.  The Council will take seriously 

and comply with the Ombudsman’s determinations, including the payment of 

compensation, a review of the findings, and appropriate action in respect of 

lessons to be learnt.     

2.7 Compensation does not have to be in the form of a payment. It can include 

practical actions (such as offering to undertake repairs or redecoration which 

would otherwise be a tenant’s responsibility) and gestures of goodwill (e.g., 

vouchers, chocolates, flowers). 

2.8 Any compensation in relation to the Council’s landlord function can only be 

financed within the resources of the Housing Revenue Account.  Generally, 

compensation payments to tenants can and should be offset against any housing 

debts owing to the Council, including rent arrears, or re-charges for damage. 

Following the offset, any balance remaining will be paid direct to the tenant. This 

would not be appropriate where the compensation was in respect of a quantifiable 

loss (i.e., where actual financial loss had occurred).  

2.9 Cabinet may wish to note the table below detailing the total of compensation paid 

in relation to the Housing function in the last two financial years. This included 

compensation payments for service failure, loss, and disrepair. 

Financial Year 2020/21 2021/22 

Compensation £37,692 £89,903 

   

Cumulative 2020/21/22 £127,595 

 

2.10 Where compensation is because of service failure and loss, any offer of 

compensation will be accompanied by an apology; an explanation as to how the 

failures in service occurred; a demonstration of learning; and a commitment to 

making service improvements. 

2.11 The compensation payments shall be signed off and authorised by either the Head 

of Housing, the Head of Technical Services, the Assistant Director of Housing or 

the Director of Housing and Property. 

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 The adoption of the policy would enable the council to fulfil its statutory 

responsibility providing a policy framework for discretionary compensation as 

expected by the Housing Ombudsman. 

 

 

24



 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 There are two options that can be considered: 

4.2 Option 1 - Do nothing. This would leave us without a compensation policy in place.  

This is not recommended due to the risk of non-compliance with our statutory 

obligations, it also increases the likelihood of a service failure becoming a formal 

complaint. 

4.3 Option 2 - Approve and implement the Housing Compensation Policy. The policy 

provides clear guidance on the Council’s arrangements for the payment of 

compensation. 

4.4 Option 2 is the preferred option due to the benefits it offers. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 The Housing Compensation Policy provides clear guidance and consistency: 

• on the payment of statutory compensation;  

• on situations where the payment of discretionary compensation is 

appropriate;  

• reduces the likelihood of a challenge through the courts and the Upper 

Tribunal (Lands Chamber); and  

• recognises the Councils commitment to putting things right where there is a 

service failure. 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 The Policy has been subject to consultation through the Council’s website with 

comments invited to the housing consultation email address.  No comments were 

received. 

 

7. Background Papers 
 

7.1 Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee papers (1st July 2021) 

for the Housing Compensation Policy. 

 

8. Appendices 
 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Housing Compensation Policy 

Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment – Housing Compensation Policy 

 

 

25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 

HOUSING 

COMPENSATION POLICY  

JULY 2022 

 

Service Area Housing 

Policy Owner Head of Housing 

Introduced 2022 Last Reviewed n/a 

Version One Review Date 2025 

27

Appendix 1



 

Compensation Policy | Page 2 of 13 
 

 

Contents 

 

1  Introduction ............................................................................................................... 3 

2  Scope and Purpose of the Policy .............................................................................. 3 

3  Strategic Context ...................................................................................................... 3 

4 Legislation and Guidance ........................................................................................... 3 

5 Equality and Diversity ................................................................................................. 4 

6 The Policy .................................................................................................................. 4 

6.1 Goodwill Gestures ............................................................................................... 5 

6.2 Standards of Repair ............................................................................................. 5 

6.3 Loss of Amenities ................................................................................................ 8 

6.4 Right to Repair ...................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

6.5 Compensation for Improvements .......................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

6.6 Home Loss / Disturbance Payments ..................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

6.7 Pre-action Protocol for Disrepair .......................................................................... 9 

7 Ineligibility for Compensation ..................................................................................... 9 

8 Responsibilities .......................................................................................................... 9 

9 Complaints ................................................................................................................10 

10 Related Policies and Documents...............................................................................10 

11 Review ......................................................................................................................10 

APPENDIX A:  Right to Repair ..........................................................................................11 

APPENDIX B:  Compensation for Improvements ..............................................................13 

 

 
 
  

28



 

Compensation Policy | Page 3 of 13 
 

1  Introduction 

Customer service is one of South Kesteven District Council’s core values; it underpins the 

housing service provided by the Council.  We strive to deliver excellence in our services and, 

as stated in our Customer First Strategy: we want to put our customers first, at the heart of 

what we do and the services we deliver.   

To deliver excellence in our housing service it is essential to recognise when we might get it 

wrong and apologise to our customers appropriately, which may include financial 

compensation. Financial compensation aims to provide redress to restore a person to the 

position that they would have been in had the service failure not occurred.  

2  Scope and Purpose of the Policy 

2.1 Within the scope of this Policy are all current and former tenants, and leaseholders 

living in South Kesteven District Council’s residential properties, including sheltered 

schemes, and blocks of flats and maisonettes.   

2.2 This Policy clearly sets out how South Kesteven District Council will meet its legal 

obligations to offer compensation payments in a fair and proportionate manner. Each 

case shall be considered on its individual merits with the appropriate levels of 

discretion and common sense applied whilst promoting consistency. 

2.3 It also sets out how the Council will respond to incidences in its housing service which 

may prompt a payment of compensation to customers, such as failures in our Repairs 

& Maintenance service which may result in certain conditions of disrepair within our 

housing stock.   

2.4 Any complaint received by the Council will be dealt with in line with our corporate 

Customer Feedback Process (Compliments, Comments & Complaints)  and we will 

always try to resolve a problem before the need for compensation arises. 

2.5 This Policy does not relate to when tenants have suffered a loss as a result of the  

Council being negligent. Any customer wishing to make an insurance claim should 

explain in writing how the Council has been negligent and the losses they have 

suffered as a consequence.  All insurance claims are sent to the Council’s insurer. 

2.6  This Policy will assist the Council in monitoring and continually improving its 

performance in delivering our housing service to customers. 

3  Strategic Context 

This Policy will assist the Council to meet the long standing aspirations within its Corporate 

Plan, particularly:  

 

“Housing that Meets the Needs of all Residents.” 

4 Legislation and Guidance 

4.1 This Policy will ensure compliance with current legislation and promote good practice.  

Without being an exhaustive list, it has regard to the:  

29



 

Compensation Policy | Page 4 of 13 
 

• Land Compensation Act 1973 (as amended) 

• Planning and Compensation Act 1991 

• Home Loss Payments (Prescribed Amounts) (England) Regulations 2019 (or 

regulations replacing these) 

• Secure Tenants of Local Housing Authorities (Right to Repair) Regulations 1994 

(as amended) 

• Housing Act 1985,1988 and 1996 

• Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993 

• Housing Act 2004 

•  Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 

• Equality Act 2010 

4.2 It should be noted that any offer of compensation is made without prejudice, as a 

good will gesture, and does not signify the acceptance of legal responsibility or 

liability on the part of South Kesteven District Council.  All payments made under this 

Policy will be issued as full and final settlement for the complaint. 

4.3 South Kesteven District Council has legal responsibilities in managing personal data 

under the General Data Protection Regulation.  Information about data protection is 

available on our website and available in other formats on request.  

5 Equality and Diversity 

5.1 South Kesteven District Council recognises that it houses people with a diverse range 

of needs which may affect their position as a customer of our housing service.  We 

will therefore: 

a) be sensitive to the individual needs and circumstances of the people using our 

housing service; 

b) meet our responsibility under the Equality Act to our residents with protected 

characteristics, who may be more affected by a failure in our Repairs & 

Maintenance service such as the loss of a usable space or amenity to the 

property; 

c) implement this Policy consistently and consider each request for compensation, 

or legal obligation to offer compensation, on a case-by-case basis to ensure that 

all of our customers are treated fairly and any compensation payments made are 

appropriate; and 

d) monitor our services and the outcomes for people using them in order to ensure 

that they are fair and responsive to needs. 

5.2 To support the needs of customers whose first language is not English, the Council 

will provide translation and interpretation services when needed.  We will ensure that 

information is accessible and available in other formats such as large print, tape and 

Braille upon request. 

6 The Policy  

There are some instances in which South Kesteven District Council will consider paying 

compensation voluntarily, and some in which we are legally obliged to do so.  As well as 

30

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 

Compensation Policy | Page 5 of 13 
 

statutory payments which are due, our decision to pay compensation may take into account 

any quantifiable losses, a customer’s time and trouble, and any inconvenience caused.    

There are three types of compensation payment: 

• mandatory (such as statutory home loss payments) 

• quantifiable loss payments (where tenants can demonstrate actual loss) 

• discretionary payments (for time and trouble/ inconvenience) 

6.1 Mandatory Payments 

 6.1.1 Right to Repair 

Under the Right to Repair scheme, customers who are introductory or secure tenants 

of the Council may be entitled to compensation if certain types of urgent repairs to the 

property in which they live are not carried out within a set time period.   

The repair must be a ‘qualifying repair’ and cost the Council less than £250.  

Examples of qualifying repairs are: 

a) a leaking roof; 

b) the only toilet not flushing; 

c) total / partial loss of heating or hot water; or 

d) total / partial loss of electric power. 

If the qualifying repair is not completed within a set time period of either one, three or 

seven working days, a customer who is the tenant of the property may request that 

South Kesteven District Council appoint a different contractor to carry out the work 

instead.  Should the repair not be completed within the same time period for a second 

time, then the customer is eligible for compensation.  Up to £50 per repair job may be 

payable, at the rate of £10 plus £2 for every day, from the day after the end of the 

second time period until the repair work is completed. 

The Right to Repair scheme is covered by The Secure Tenants of Local Housing 

Authorities (Right to Repair) Regulations 1994 (as amended) and the Leasehold 

Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993.  Full details of the defects which 

count as ‘qualifying repairs’ and the prescribed timescales in which work should be 

completed, are set out in Appendix A. 

6.1.2 Compensation for Improvements  

Customers of South Kesteven District Council who have a secure tenancy and have 

carried out improvement work to the property in which they live, may be entitled to 

claim compensation for the work when their tenancy ends.   

Examples of the improvements for which customers may claim compensation are as 

follows: 

a) fitting a bath / shower; 

b) new storage cupboards in bathroom / kitchen; 

c) new work surfaces for food preparation; 

31

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/133/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/133/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1993/28/section/122
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1993/28/section/122


 

Compensation Policy | Page 6 of 13 
 

d) installing loft insulation; 

e) double glazing (or other external window replacement); or 

f) re-wiring / provision of electrical fittings. 

Each type of improvement has a notional lifespan, which is used to help calculate 

how much compensation is payable.  As an indication, if a new kitchen worktop was 

fitted five years before the tenancy ended, at the cost of £500, then compensation of 

£250 may be payable (formula given in Appendix B). 

Compensation is only payable if the amount due is between £50 and £3,000.  The 

compensation may be reduced (or increased) if any of the following apply to the 

improvement work: 

g) the cost was excessive; 

h) it is of a higher quality than if the Council had properly undertaken the work; or 

i) the condition of the installation has deteriorated more or less quickly than 

expected (compared to the notional lifespan). 

If a customer wishes to claim compensation for improvements, they must:  

j) make their claim to the Council in writing; 

k) provide sufficient information about the improvement work; 

l) apply within 28 days before and 14 days after the end of their tenancy; 

m) have obtained the Council’s consent to the improvement work before they 

claim; and 

n) have started the improvement work after 1 April 1994. 

A customer may claim whether they are a sole or joint secure tenant, and are moving 

home via a mutual exchange, transfer or becoming a tenant of another social 

landlord.  Some of the reasons for which improvements are ineligible for 

compensation are: the tenancy has ended due to eviction, the customer has 

exercised the Right to Buy, or a new tenancy of substantially the same property has 

been granted to the claimant. 

This type of statutory compensation is covered by The Secure Tenants of Local 

Authorities (Compensation for Improvements) Regulations 1994, which set out what 

counts as a ‘qualifying improvement’ and how the amount of compensation is 

calculated.  Further details are included in Appendix B. 

6.1.3 Home Loss / Disturbance Payments 

‘Home loss payments’ and ‘disturbance payments’ are two types of statutory 

compensation which are covered by the Land Compensation Act 1973, as amended 

by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991.   

6.1.3.1 Home loss payments 

A customer living in a residential property for which South Kesteven District Council is 

the landlord (including owners of leasehold properties) may claim a ‘home loss 

payment’ if they are required to move home permanently due to the redevelopment or 

demolition of the property.   

32

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/613/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/613/introduction/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1973/26/part/III/crossheading/home-loss-payments
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/34/part/III/crossheading/home-loss-payments


 

Compensation Policy | Page 7 of 13 
 

Full details are set out in the relevant legislation, including that the person claiming 

must: 

a) have occupied the property for at least 12 months; 

b) use it as their main residence; and 

c) have the necessary right to occupy, or legal interest in, the property. 

Claims must be made in writing and any payment made will be divided between 

customers who are joint tenants or leaseholders. 

The amount of ‘home loss payment’ due at the time of writing is set by the Home 

Loss Payments (Prescribed Amounts) (England) Regulations 2019.   

6.1.3.2 Disturbance payments 

Where a customer is not eligible for a ‘home loss payment’, for example they are 

required to move out of the property temporarily or have lived there for less than 12 

months, a ‘disturbance payment’ may be made.  This payment is for the reasonable 

costs of moving home, including as required: 

a) removal costs; 

b) disconnection and reconnection of home appliances (cookers, washing 

machines and showers); 

c) transferring a landline telephone number; 

d) redirecting mail; 

e) refitting carpets; or 

f) refitting a TV aerial or satellite dish. 

 

6.2 Quantifiable Loss Payments 

Standards of Repair 

 6.2.1 Decoration Grant 

The Council may pay to customers a contribution towards the cost of internal 

redecoration of a part or whole of the property: 

a) at the start of their tenancy if the standard of decoration does not meet the 

relevant standard; or 

b) during their tenancy after the completion of repair works to the property, such 

as extensive wiring or plumbing, which leave the decoration at a lower 

standard than it was found before the works began. 

Any contribution will be in the form of vouchers to be used to purchase decorating 

materials such as paint, to a maximum of £300 per property. 

6.2.2 Cooker Renewal 

There are some tenanted properties in the Council’s sheltered schemes which 

include use of a cooker provided by the Council.  Should the cooker become 

uneconomical to repair, a contribution of £200 will be made to customers for the 

replacement of the cooker which was provided with the property. 

33

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/1117/regulation/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/1117/regulation/2/made


 

Compensation Policy | Page 8 of 13 
 

6.3 Discretionary Payments 

Landlords are expected to have a compensation policy which provides guidance on 
when it will consider offering discretionary compensation. These are sometimes 
referred to as a gesture of goodwill. South Kesteven will consider discretionary 
payments for circumstances such as:  

• poor complaint handling 

• delays in providing a service e.g. in undertaking a repair 

• failure to provide a service that has been charged for 

• temporary loss of amenity 

• failure to meet target response times 

• loss of use of part of the property 

• failure to follow policy and procedure 

• unreasonable time taken to resolve a situation 
 

This list is not exclusive and the council will always work with the tenant to resolve 

any issues.  

Temporary Loss of Amenities 

Any compensation offered for loss of amenities applies to customers who are tenants 

of South Kesteven District Council. 

6.3.1 Usable Space 

The Council may offer compensation to customers on request for loss of usable 

space, as a proportion of the weekly rent due for the property. 

What constitutes an ‘unusable’ room will be considered on a case-by-case basis.  For 

example: an unsafe or collapsed floor or ceiling, severe damp, or the complete loss of 

electricity in the room.  When a room is regarded as unusable by our Repairs & 

Maintenance Team, compensation may be paid as follows: 

Complete loss of kitchen / bathroom: 

c) 25% of the weekly rent after 48 hours.  For loss of bathroom this is reduced to 

15% of weekly rent if a separate WC is available. 

d) Any compensation for loss of kitchen / bathroom where programmed 

maintenance works have been pre-arranged and advance notification has 

been given to resident(s), allowing alternative arrangements to be made, will 

take effect after four days instead of 48 hours. 

Complete loss of living area / bedroom: 

e) 20% of the weekly rent after seven days. 

6.3.2 Heating / Hot Water 

The Council may offer compensation on request to customers experiencing complete 

loss of the heating or hot water system.  This is set at £2 per calendar day for the loss 

of either heating or hot water (to a maximum of £4 per day).  Payment will be 

calculated from the day the need for repair was reported to the Council, to the day the 

repair was completed. 

34



 

Compensation Policy | Page 9 of 13 
 

6.3.3 Use of Dehumidifier  

Where use of a dehumidifier has been required for at least seven calendar days, the 

Council may offer on request £10 in compensation for each seven calendar day 

period. 

6.7 Pre-action Protocol for Disrepair 

In an instance that we have been notified of a need for repair to one of our residential 

dwellings or blocks of flats, but have failed to rectify the problem, a customer may 

wish to make a claim against South Kesteven District Council for disrepair.  The pre-

action protocol sets out a process for customers (whether tenant, leaseholder, or 

resident member of their family), and the Council to follow.   

The protocol aims to avoid the need to go to Court by finding an appropriate solution 

via alternative methods of resolution, such as: 

a) the Council’s complaints procedure (see 8); 

b) the Right to Repair scheme (see 6.4); or 

c) the Housing Ombudsman Service. 

Details of the pre-action protocol for disrepair, including template letters, can be found 

on the Ministry of Justice website. 

7 Ineligibility for Compensation 

There are some instances in which a customer will not be eligible for compensation under 

the above schemes.  These may include (and are not limited to) situations where: 

a) a temporary repair is carried out; 

b) customers have not fully co-operated with our contractors to aid timely completion of 

a repair (such as contractors making reasonable efforts to access the property 

without success); 

c) loss or damage has been caused to the property by a resident, family member or 

visitor; 

d) repair work is delayed or not completed because the repair was not reported to the 

Council; 

e) repair work is cancelled due to unforeseen circumstances such as extreme weather 

conditions;  

f) loss of amenity is caused by unavoidable conditions beyond the Council’s fault or 

control, such as utilities outage, extreme weather, or fire;  

g) improvement or repair works to the property result in unavoidable low level damage, 

for example temporary removal of or holes in floor coverings caused by plumbing 

work;  

h) alterations or improvements are made to the property by the customer without written 

approval from the Council or to an inadequate standard; or 

i) the Council is not responsible for the repair work. 

8 Responsibilities 

8.1 Customers are responsible for adhering to their respective tenancy or lease 

agreements with South Kesteven District Council.  Breaches of agreement will be 

35

https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/civil/protocol/prot_hou
https://aha.adactushousing.co.uk/Information?t=42;d=436
https://aha.adactushousing.co.uk/Information?t=42;d=436
https://aha.adactushousing.co.uk/Information?t=42;d=436


 

Compensation Policy | Page 10 of 13 
 

addressed in accordance with the relevant policy, ensuring any action taken is 

reasonable and proportionate given the circumstance and the impact of the breach. 

Depending on the breach of agreement, and any relevant legislation, this may result 

in compensation not being payable. 

8.2 Where a customer has a debt owed to the Council any compensation will be first 

applied to the account which is in debt to clear or reduce the outstanding balance.  

This includes (but not exclusively) debts relating to a current or former tenancy 

account, leaseholder account, council tax or other sundry debts. 

 This applies to all cases of compensation apart from section 6.6: Home Loss / 

Disturbance Payments. 

8.3 The compensation payments shall be signed off and authorised by either the Head of 

Housing, the Head of Technical Services, the Assistant Director of Housing or the 

Director of Housing and Property. 

 

9 Complaints 

Details of South Kesteven District Council’s corporate complaints process can be found on 

our website and are available in other formats on request.  The procedure includes three 

stages which attempt to resolve any dissatisfaction with the Council’s services, followed by 

the right of appeal should a customer wish to do so.   

We will meet all legal and regulatory requirements and will adhere to any actions or 

compensations ordered by the Housing Ombudsman or Local Government Ombudsman, as 

part of their findings following a complaint.  

10 Related Policies and Documents  

• Housing Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code  

• Tenancy Policy 

• Tenancy Agreement 

•  Tenancy Handbook 

• Leasehold Management Policy 

•  Asset Management Strategy 

•  Recharge Policy 

• Aids and Adaptations Policy for Council Tenants 

•  Complaint’s policies and procedures 

•  Equality and Diversity Framework 

11 Review 

This Policy will be reviewed every three years, unless legislative or regulatory changes require 

an earlier review.  If Council staff become aware that there are problems with effective 

operation of the Policy or the associated procedures, they should report this to the Policy 

Owner.  This feedback will be incorporated into the Policy / procedural review process.  

36



 

Compensation Policy | Page 11 of 13 
 

APPENDIX A:  Right to Repair 

 

The Secure Tenants of Local Housing Authorities (Right to Repair) Regulations 1994, 

Schedule: 

Defect Prescribed period 

(in working days) 

Total loss of electric power 1 

Partial loss of electric power 3 

Unsafe power or lighting socket, or electrical fitting 1 

Total loss of water supply 1 

Partial loss of water supply 3 

Total or partial loss of gas supply 1 

Blocked flue to open fire or boiler 1 

Total or partial loss of space or water heating between 31st 

October and 1st May 

1 

Total or partial loss of space or water heating between 30th April 

and 1st November 

3 

Blocked or leaking foul drain, soil stack, or (where there is no 

other working toilet in the dwelling-house) toilet pan 

1 

Toilet not flushing (where there is no other working toilet in the 

dwelling-house) 

1 

Blocked sink, bath or basin 3 

Tap which cannot be turned 3 

Leaking from water or heating pipe, tank or cistern 1 

Leaking roof 7 

Insecure external window, door or lock 1 

37

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/133/schedule/made


 

Compensation Policy | Page 12 of 13 
 

Defect Prescribed period 

(in working days) 

Loose or detached bannister or hand rail 3 

Rotten timber flooring or stair tread 3 

Door entry phone not working 7 

Mechanical extractor fan in internal kitchen or bathroom not 

working 

7 

 

For full conditions please refer to the relevant legislation.   

38



 

Compensation Policy | Page 13 of 13 
 

APPENDIX B:  Compensation for Improvements 

 

The Secure Tenants of Local Authorities (Compensation for Improvements) Regulations 
1994, Schedule: 

Qualifying Improvement Notional 

Life 

1. Bath or shower. 12 

2. Wash-hand basin. 12 

3. Toilet. 12 

4. Kitchen sink 10 

5. Storage cupboards in bathroom or kitchen. 10 

6. Work surfaces for food preparation. 10 

7. Space or water heating. 12 

8. Thermostatic radiator valves. 7 

9. Insulation of pipes, water tank or cylinder. 10 

10. Loft insulation. 20 

11. Cavity wall insulation. 20 

12. Draught proofing of external doors or windows. 8 

13. Double glazing or other external window replacement or secondary 

glazing. 

20 

14. Rewiring or the provision of power and lighting or other electrical fittings 

(including smoke detectors). 

15 

15. Any object which improves the security of the dwelling-house, but 

excluding burglar alarms. 

10 

 
For full conditions please refer to the relevant legislation. 

39

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/613/schedule/made


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2a 
 

1 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Housing Compensation Policy 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
 
Housing 

Lead officer: 
Craig Spence 

Date of Meeting  
 
14/03/22 Assessors: 

Celia Bown 
Ken Linford 

Neutral Assessor: 
Stacy Carter 

  

41

Appendix 2



Appendix 2a 
 

2 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

This Housing Compensation Policy aims to provide redress, to restore a 
person to the position that they would have been in had the service failure 
not occurred. 
 
Within the scope of this Policy are all current and former tenants, and 
leaseholders living in South Kesteven District Council’s residential 
properties, including sheltered schemes, blocks of flats and maisonettes.  
 
This Policy clearly sets out how South Kesteven District Council will meet its 
legal obligations to offer compensation payments in a fair and proportionate 
manner. Each case shall be considered on its individual merits, with the 
appropriate levels of discretion and common sense applied, whilst promoting 
consistency. 
 
There are three types of compensation payment: 

• mandatory (such as statutory home loss payments) 

• quantifiable loss payments (where people can demonstrate 

actual loss) 

• discretionary payments (for time and trouble/distress and 

inconvenience) 

Mandatory compensation payments include those covered by The Right to 
Repair scheme in accordance with The Secure Tenants of Local Housing 
Authorities (Right to Repair) Regulations 1994 (as amended) and the 
Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993. 
 
Examples of qualifying repairs are: 

 

a) a leaking roof; 

b) the only toilet not flushing; 

c) total / partial loss of heating or hot water; or 

d) total / partial loss of electric power. 

 
The policy states in section 6.4 “if the qualifying repair is not completed 
within a set time period of either one, three or seven working days, a 
customer who is the tenant of the property may request that South Kesteven 
District Council appoint a different contractor to carry out the work instead.  
Should the repair not be completed within the same time period for a second 
time, then the customer is eligible for compensation”.  Staff training will be 

42

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/133/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/133/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1993/28/section/122


Appendix 2a 
 

3 

 

given on identifying customers who do not have the skill, knowledge and 
confidence to request the Council to appoint a different contractor. 
 
In section 7 – Ineligibility for Compensation, it states there are some 
instances in which a customer will not be eligible for compensation, such as 
“loss or damage has been caused to the property by a resident, family 
member or visitor”.  Discretion will be used in regards to tenants who are 
victims of domestic abuse and tenants with mental ill health issues or 
behaviour problems. 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  New  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative. 
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Negative Older people are more likely to 
suffer health problems such as 
dementia, hearing and sight 
and therefore are more likely 
to have difficulties in claiming 
compensation. 
 
To mitigate this, officers (either 
via our Tenancy Support Team 
or from a Housing Officer) will 
provide assistance to tenants 
to do this and 
enquiries/applications from 
relatives/carers/support 
workers of tenants can be 
made.  This will be 
communicated to tenants via 
officers including Customer 
Services personnel. 

Disability 
 

 

Negative A tenant with disabilities may 
have more difficulties in 
conveying their reasons for 
claiming compensation. 

43



Appendix 2a 
 

4 

 

 
To mitigate this, as above, 
officers can provide assistance 
for anyone having difficulties.  
Enquiries and applications on 
behalf of a tenant can be 
considered, with their consent. 

Race 
 

Negative Some tenants of a different 
nationality do not speak, read 
or write English as their first 
language and may face 
difficulties in claiming 
compensation. 
 
To mitigate this, enquiries and 
applications can be made by 
relatives/advocates for tenants 
and officers will use translation 
and interpretation services, 
where needed. 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neutral This protected characteristic 
does not have an implication 
on the policy. 

Religion or 
Belief   

Neutral Religion or belief does not 
negatively or positively have 
an impact on the policy. 

Sex 
 
 
   

Neutral This does not affect the 
implications of the policy. 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral This protected characteristic 
has been considered and does 
not adversely or positively 
affect the policy. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Neutral The implications of the policy 
will not differentiate people 
either negatively or positively 
on this basis. 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral The content of the policy will 
not differentiate people on this 
basis. 

Carers Neutral The implications of the policy 
will not differentiate people due 
to this protected characteristic. 

44



Appendix 2a 
 

5 

 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

Neutral No other cohorts of people 
identified as affected by this 
policy. 

General 
comments 

An Equality Impact Assessment will also be undertaken for the 
procedures for the policy.  This is to ensure that in the 
implementation of the policy, where discretion can be used, 
decisions are made without any unconscious bias and officers 
use a consistent approach and are objective.  Training of 
officers will also be given to be aware of unconscious bias and 
to make objective decisions. 
 
Robust recruitment and procedures will be in place and full 
training will be given to officers, to prevent discrimination taking 
place. 

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

Repairs and compensation data and information.   
 
The number and type of complaints received as part of our customer 
feedback has been used in formulating this policy.  If the Housing 
Ombudsman find failings in the delivery of housing services, compensation 
has to be awarded.  72 housing related complaints were made in 2020/21. 

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

N/A 

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

45



Appendix 2a 
 

6 

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

✓

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

46



Appendix 2a 
 

7 

 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Craig Spence 
(Name and title)   Assistant Director of Housing 
  

Date completed:  14/03/22  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Sam Fitt 
(Name and title)   Project Lead 
 

Date signed off:     10/05/22  
 

47



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2022  
 
Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 
 

 

 

Housing Recharge Policy 
 

Report Author 

Jodie Archer, Head of Housing Services 

  Jodie.archer@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 
The Council is required, as a social landlord, to incur costs that arise from works which 

are normally the responsibility of the tenant, including repair of damage, pest control, and 

property cleans and clearances.  The Housing Recharge Policy seeks to define the 

circumstances where such recharges are appropriate and make clear the Council’s 

intention to recover such costs. 

 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet: 

1. Notes the content of the report. 

2. Approves the Housing Recharge Policy.  

3. Delegates to the Director of Housing and Property authority to make minor 
amendments to the Housing Recharge Policy as required by changes to 
regulation or legislation. 

 

 

 

 

49

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? Yes 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities? 

Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

 

Which wards are impacted? All 

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, staffing, 

community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 The Policy sets out a framework for the charging of costs (labour and materials) 

where work to the property is required and is not within the Council’s 

responsibility.  It is important to ensure there is a process for the recording, raising 

and recovery of monies due in order to ensure there is accurate and consistent 

financial record keeping.  Debt management is required to be undertaken in 

accordance with Financial Regulations.  Any write offs relating to bad debt must 

be undertaken in accordance with the Financial Regulations.  There is currently no 

income budget being proposed for any rechargeable income received as the level 

of income is not yet known.  This will be monitored once the policy has been 

introduced. 

Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer    

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 It is good practice to have a Policy for recharges and this will prove very useful 

should enforcement action ever need to be taken. 

 

Diversity and Inclusion 

 

1.3 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for the policy was undertaken and signed off 

by one of the Council’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Champions. See 

Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment – Recharge Policy. Any negative 

impacts can be mitigated, and these are demonstrated in the EIA. 

 

50



1.4 There are no safeguarding issues identified. 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1 The Council has a clear commitment in its Corporate Plan 2020-2023 to provide 

“Housing that meets the needs of all residents”.  As a stock-retained local 

authority, the Council has circa 5,900 properties.  The Council has long-

established custom and practice in terms of recharges, but no clear policies have 

been adopted.  This report seeks Cabinet approval for adoption of the recharge 

policy which can be found at Appendix 1 - Draft Housing Recharge Policy. 

2.2 Cabinet is aware of and has welcomed the clear shift to greater tenant 

engagement and increased clarity and powers given to the Regulator of Social 

Housing and the Housing Ombudsman.  The adoption of clear policies evidences 

the Council’s commitment to meet all its statutory and regulatory obligations.   

Housing Recharge Policy  

2.3 The Housing Recharge Policy sets out when a recharge will be made, confirming 

that tenants will be recharged for work carried out that is not the Council’s 

responsibility and that the Council will, as far is reasonably practicable, recover the 

costs.   

2.4 A tenant may be recharged for any work the Council is required to complete which 

is not the Council’s responsibility as a landlord.  Examples include:  the 

replacement and fitting of light bulbs; replacement of lost keys; or repair of 

damage caused by a tenant, family member or visitor.   

2.5 Cabinet may wish to note that the Council cannot make charges in relation to a 

tenant exercising a statutory right.  For example, a tenant cannot be recharged for 

submitting and withdrawing from a mutual exchange, although costs are incurred 

to the Council in assessing an application.  However, if, during an inspection of the 

property triggered by a mutual exchange application, rechargeable repairs were 

identified, then it would be consistent with the proposed Policy to recover those 

costs.   

2.6 Naturally, situations may arise where recharges are inappropriate, and Council 

Officers are expected to use good judgement within the framework of the Policy.  

For example, a recharge may sometimes not be made where the tenant is a victim 

of domestic abuse, and the property damage was made by the perpetrator.   

Consideration of vulnerabilities, including mental health issues, will also be 

considered prior to the recovery of recharges.  

2.7 In common with most landlords, the Council often identifies recharges during its 

inspection of properties following the termination of a tenancy.  The Council will 

seek to recover costs that are the former tenant’s responsibility, for example, 

damage to fixtures and fittings, removal of rubbish and belongings, or making 

good alterations done without the Council’s consent. Following the death of a 

tenant, the recovery of costs is from the deceased tenant’s estate.  This will be 

dealt with sensitively and appropriately by the Council. 

51



2.8 Anticipated income shall be input through the budget setting process to ensure 

transparency in terms of financial management. 

2.9 The recharges shall be identified at the point of raising the works in our housing 

management system, the resulting cost of these works shall then be automatically 

applied to the tenant’s account on their rechargeable repairs sub-account, 

providing a full audit trail for future reference. 

2.10 The recovery of these charges shall than be managed through the housing 

management system, with tenant’s able to assign payments to the appropriate 

sub-account. 

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 The Recharge Policy is a key policy within the Housing services policy framework 

and will provide consistency of approach and transparency to the process. 

Enabling the Council to recoup costs incurred in line with the tenant’s 

responsibilities. 

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 There are two options that can be considered: 

4.2 Option 1 - Do nothing. This would leave us without a recharge policy in place.  

This is not recommended due to the risk of high costs to the Council if work is 

undertaken and not re-charged.   

4.3 Option 2 - Approve and implement the Recharge policy.  The Policy provides clear 

guidance on the Council’s arrangements for the identification of recharges. 

4.4 Option 2 is the preferred option due to the benefits it offers. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 The Recharge Policy clearly sets out when a recharge will and will not be made 

and reduces the risk of a high cost of works not recouped in line with the tenant’s 

responsibilities. 

 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 The Policy has been subject to consultation through the Council’s website with 

comments invited to the housing consultation email address.  No comments were 

received. 

 

 

 

52



7. Appendices 
 

7.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Housing Recharge Policy 

Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment – Recharge Policy 

 

 

 

53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Kesteven District Council 

Housing Recharge Policy 

October 2022 
  

Service Area Housing 

Policy Owner Head of Housing 

Introduced 2022 Last Reviewed n/a 

Version One Review Date 2025 

55

Appendix 1



 

 

Contents 

 

 

 

1 Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

2 Definition of a recharge .................................................................................................................... 3 

3 Purpose .............................................................................................................................................. 3 

4 Equality and diversity ....................................................................................................................... 4 

5 Scope .................................................................................................................................................. 4 

6 Policy .................................................................................................................................................. 4 

7 Appeals ............................................................................................................................................... 5 

8 Responsibility..................................................................................................................................... 5 

9 Monitoring and review ...................................................................................................................... 5 

 

 

 

  

56



 

 

1 Introduction  

 

1.1 The aim of the Recharge policy is to ensure that costs that arise from South Kesteven 

District Council carrying out any works which are normally the responsibility of the tenant are 

recovered through a recharge and that tenants are made aware of this. For example, 

repairs, pest control, deep cleans and property clearances. 

1.2 The Council aims to ensure that as far as is possible all monies due in respect of any 

work or repairs deemed as rechargeable and payable by the tenant are collected within 

agreed timescales and tenants are offered an appropriate method of paying the charges 

due.  

1.3 The Council will adopt a caring but firm approach in recovering the amount owed; the 

tenants will be told of their obligations to pay these recharges and will be kept informed on a 

regular basis about the amount they are required to pay.  

2 Definition of a recharge  

 

2.1 Rechargeable works are those works arising from damage, neglect, abuse or misuse of 

landlord’s property, fixtures and fittings by a tenant, member of the tenant’s household, 

support staff or visitors to the tenant’s property. They do not include repairs that arise as a 

result of normal wear and tear through the duration of a tenancy.  All recharges are subject 

VAT.  

2.2 From time-to-time tenants may ask the Council to undertake work which is their 

responsibility. In these circumstances the tenant will be informed that the work will be 

rechargeable and that the Council will require payment in advance (or agreement to a 

schedule of repayment) before undertaking the work. In emergencies, (e.g., gaining entry 

when the tenant has lost their keys), the requirement for payment in advance may be waived 

provided that the tenant agrees that they will meet the cost of the work.  

3 Purpose  

 

3.1 The aims of the policy are to: 

 

• Put clear guidance in place to support the Council with the recharge costs for 

which tenants are responsible  

• Link with other strategic documentation and policies such as Tenancy agreement, 

Void Policy, Aids and Adaptations Policy, Asset Management Strategy, 

Allocations Policy, Financial Regulations and the Debt Management Policy.  

• In order to operate effectively and ensure value for money, the Council needs to 

ensure that all aspects of the tenancy agreement are enforced by ensuring 

income from rechargeable works and minimising expenditure in managing and 

maintaining its properties  

• Provide a framework in which a consistent approach is undertaken to the 

recharge of services, where there have been deliberate actions by the tenant 

resulting in damage to property or other assets owned by the Council.  

  

57



 

 

4 Equality and diversity  

 

4.1 The policy will be underpinned by the following principles:  

• The Council’s commitment to delivering a service which is fair, equitable and 

transparent  

• Supported by detailed procedures and agreed practices, which will be 

consistently applied across the organisation  

• Tenants will be made aware of circumstances in which charges may apply.  

5 Scope  

 

5.1 All recharges for any work and repairs undertaken at a tenant’s property which is outside 

of any of the Council’s contractual obligations.  The costs of labour and materials will be 

recharged to the tenant and is subject to VAT. 

6 Policy  

 

6.1 The Council’s policy is to recharge tenants for work carried out that is not the Council’s 

responsibility, and as far is reasonably practicable recover the costs.  The costs will be 

recovered in line with the Council’s debt management policy. 

6.2 If the Council agrees to carry out work that is beyond the requirements of the Tenancy 

Agreement or current policy a recharge will usually only be made if the tenant has agreed to 

the recharge.  

6.3 No recharge will be made to the incoming tenant for works as a result of preparing a 

property for re-letting or sale, except for exceptional works requested by an incoming tenant 

beyond the existing re-let standard.  

6.4 A tenant may be recharged for any of the following work for which the Council is not 

responsible, including but not limited to:  

• replacement and fitting of light bulbs  

• supply and replacement of household dustbins including wheelie bins  

• replacement plugs and chains on sinks, baths and basins  

• replacement of toilet seats, pulls and chains  

• fitting of blinds, curtain tracks, coat rails and shelving  

• installation of extra security locks  

• replacement of lost keys  

• changing locks and repairing associated damage after a person has locked 

themselves out  

• adjusting internal doors so they open and close over fitted carpets  

• lifting and relaying of wooden or laminate floors or carpets in order to carry out 

repairs  

• unblocking sinks, basins and baths  

• repair of damage caused by a tenant, family member or guest 

 

  

58



 

 

Circumstances in which works give rise to a recharge also include:  

• where the health and safety of tenants or others is at risk  

• a property has been vacated and left in poor condition  

• the Landlord’s fixtures and fittings in a property have been changed or modified by 

the tenant and costs are incurred to remove and restore the original fitting  

• situations where the repair is necessary to avoid further damage to the property or 

other properties 

 

6.5 Where damage is caused by persons other than the tenant, and the name and address 

of the perpetrator who has undertaken the wilful damage is known, then a criminal damages 

claim may be pursued. In this instance, a crime reference number will be required prior to 

raising the request for a recharge.  

6.6 Deceased tenants – where a rechargeable repair has been identified from a deceased 

tenant the case will be referred to Housing Services  for the consideration of writing off this 

debt against the account.  

6.7 Discretionary circumstance – there may be times that the tenant will not be recharged as 

a result of their actions. This may relate to domestic violence, or vulnerabilities including 

mental health issues. These cases will be raised with the Council  and costs waivered under 

specialist circumstances. If a decision can’t be decided upon at this level, then the case will 

be referred to senior management within housing.  

7 Appeals  

 

7.1 Any tenant wishing to appeal about any aspect of the recharge process can contact the 

Council setting out the reasons for the appeal.  The tenant will be notified of the outcome of 

the appeal and the decision will be final.  

8 Responsibility  

 

8.1 The Council’s Housing service is  responsible for the effective implementation of this 

policy. 

9 Monitoring and review  

 

9.1 The Council will monitor the volume, frequency and nature of tenant recharges and 

report regularly through the usual councils governance structures. The policy will be 

reviewed every three years or sooner subject to changes in Policy. 

59



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2b 
 

1 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Housing Re-Charge Policy 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
 
Housing 

Lead officer: 
Craig Spence 

Date of Meeting  
 
02/03/22 Assessors: 

 
Celia Bown 
Ken Linford 

Neutral Assessor: 
Stacy Carter 

  

61

Appendix 2



Appendix 2b 
 

2 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

The aim of the Recharge policy is to ensure costs, which arise from South 
Kesteven District Council (SKDC) carrying out any works (which are 
normally the responsibility of the tenant), are recovered through a recharge 
and that tenants are made aware of this. For example; repairs, pest control, 
deep cleans and property clearances. 
 
SKDC aims to ensure that, as far as is possible, all monies due, in respect 
of any work or repairs deemed as rechargeable and payable by the tenant, 
are collected within agreed timescales and tenants are offered an 
appropriate method of paying the charges due. 
  

Tenants will be offered an appropriate method of paying the charges due 
eg. a repayment plan may be put into place to allow a tenant to repay by 
monthly instalments. 
  
In emergencies, (e.g. gaining entry when the tenant has lost their keys), 
the requirement for payment in advance may be waived, provided that the 
tenant agrees that they will meet the cost of the work. 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  Existing  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative. 
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Negative Young and old tenants are 
more likely to have a low 
income and may be unable to 
pay the re-charge.   
 
This will be mitigated by the 
offer of paying the re-charge 
via a repayment plan. 

Disability 
 

 

Positive 
 
 

Discretion will be used in 
regards to people with 
disabilities and/or behaviour 

62



Appendix 2b 
 

3 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Negative 

problems in terms of whether 
or not they will be re-charged if 
damage is not deliberate 
(accidental damage). 
 
Tenants with a disability, who 
are liable for a re-charge, are 
more likely to be on a lower 
income and have difficulty 
paying the re-charge.   
 
To mitigate this, a repayment 
plan will be offered. 

Race 
 

Neutral The implications of the policy 
will not differentiate people on 
this basis. 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neutral This protected characteristic 
does not have an effect on the 
policy. 

Religion or 
Belief   

Neutral The policy does not negatively 
or positively have an effect on 
this basis. 

Sex 
 
 
   

Neutral The policy will not differentiate 
people due to this protected 
characteristic. 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral Sexual orientation does not 
affect the implications of the 
policy. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Negative Tenants who are on maternity 
leave are more likely to be on 
a lower income and have 
difficulty paying the re-charge.   
 
To mitigate this, a repayment 
plan will be offered. 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral The implications of the policy 
will not differentiate people 
based on this protected 
characteristic. 

Carers Negative Carers present in a tenant’s 
home are at risk of being 
accused of property damage.  
Each situation will be 

63



Appendix 2b 
 

4 

 

considered and discretion will 
be applied. 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

Positive Discretion will be used in 
considering whether, tenants 
who are victims of domestic 
abuse and tenants with mental 
ill health issues or behaviour 
problems, are to be recharged 
or not for property damage. 
 
 

General 
comments 

All protected characteristics – for people who cannot meet the 
full re-charge, a repayment plan could be put into place. 
 
An Equality Impact Assessment will also be undertaken for the 
procedures for the policy.  This is to ensure that in the 
implementation of the policy, where discretion can be used, 
decisions are made without any unconscious bias and officers 
use a consistent approach and are objective. 
 
Robust recruitment and procedures will be in place and full 
training will be given to officers, to prevent discrimination taking 
place. 

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

Voids and repairs data.  There were 327 voids in 2021/22 with the average 
number of days void being 86, which puts the Council in 4th quartile in 
comparison to other Councils.  Tenants are leaving the properties in a bad 
state, which adds to the costs for the Council to bring the properties up to a 
re-let standard.  This is the tenants’ liability and we need a policy so that 
this is not impacting on public spend. 
 
There were 9,463 reactive repairs carried out in 2020/21, with each taking 
an average approx. 24 days to complete.  To have a Re-Charge Policy in 
place will assist in enforcing tenants to pay for repairs they are liable for 
and therefore, reduce the number of repairs and also the number of days 
to complete them. 

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 

64



Appendix 2b 
 

5 

 

  

No identified gaps 

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

✓

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 

65



Appendix 2b 
 

6 

 

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Craig Spence 
(Name and title)   Assistant Director of Housing 
  

Date completed:  28/02/22  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Keeley Asher 
(Name and title)   HR Officer 
 

Date signed off:     16/05/22  
 

66



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Nick Robins, 
Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Planning Policy 
 
 

 

 

Local Development Scheme for the Local Plan 
 

Report Author 

Shaza Brannon, Principal Planning Policy Officer 

   shaza.brannon@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy seeking 

approval of a revision to the timetable associated with the Local Development Scheme 

(LDS).   

 

 

Recommendation 

 

That Cabinet: 

1. Approves the proposals for the revised Local Development Scheme 2022 - 
2025 (at appendix A). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

67

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? No 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities? 

Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

 

Which wards are impacted? All 

 

1.  Implications 
 

1.1 Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal 

and governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the 

Council’s declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications 

have been identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.2 The cost of undertaking the Local Plan is included within the approved budget for 

the current financial year. The financial implications associated with future years will 

be considered as part of the Council’s budget setting process. 

 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance 

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.3 The preparation of a Local development Scheme and Local Plan are statutory 

requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Planning Act 2004 (as amended by 

the Localism Act 2011) and Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

Regulations 12. There is a need to ensure the Local Plan is up to date through a 

review. Failure to have an up-to-date Local Plan in place, limits the Council’s ability 

to influence the quantum, location and quality of development in its area. The 

Government have made clear they expect Council’s to have a Local Plan in place.  

 

1.4 The Council must publicise its intended timetable for producing the Local Plan. This 

information is contained in the proposed Local Development Scheme (LDS) which 

authorities should publish on their website and must be kept up to date.  The Council 

has a legal duty to ensure that the LDS is kept up to date. 
 

 

68



Risk and Mitigation 

 

1.5 Publishing a Local Development Scheme and keeping it up to date is a regulatory 

requirement.  The Council currently has a Local Development Scheme in place, but 

an update is required due to a timetable delay.   

 

1.6 The LDS includes a table detailing ‘Risks to Production’ at section 5, page 8.  The 

LDS acknowledges that the preparation of the review of the Local plan presents a 

number of risks which could affect the work programme and timetable. The table 

includes key risks and proposed mitigation measures to ensure the preparation of 

sound development plan documents. 
 

1.7 The Local Plan review is currently delayed which has triggered a review of the Local 

Development Scheme. The reasons for the delay and proposed mitigation are set 

out at paragraphs 2.14 and 2.15 of this report.  The delay to the submission of the 

Local Plan may cause some applicants to suggest that the Local Plan and its 

policies are out of date; this could then have a significant impact on the 

determination of planning applications. However, this risk is considered to be low 

as it is well established that where policies are old, they do not automatically 

become out of date. 
 

1.8 Local Plan policies can be considered out of date where there are changes in 

national policy and/ or the evidence that supports the policies is out of date. It is 

important to note that the review of the Local Plan has commenced and as the 

anticipated delay of submission to the secretary of state is only three months, the 

risk is ultimately small. Upon submission of the Local Plan, the emerging plan will 

carry weight in decision making. 
 

1.9 To minimise the risk, the Council has carefully reviewed the timescales and project 

plan to ensure the reviewed timetable is realistic.  Despite the draft stage of the 

Local Plan being delayed by six months, the project plan has flexibility built into it 

which has resulted in an anticipated delay of only 3 months overall. 
 

1.10 The proposed LDS at Appendix 1 provides an accurate, updated timetable for the 

production of development plans and has been developed taking account of the 

risks and mitigation proposed in section 5 of the Local Development Scheme. 

 

 

 

Health and Safety 

 

1.11 The production of a Local Development Scheme has no identified impact on health 

and safety.   

 

69



Diversity and Inclusion 

 

1.12 The production of a Local Development Scheme has no identified impact on health 

and safety. 

 

Is an Equality Impact Assessment required?  

 

1.13 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is not required as policy is not being 

introduced. An EIA will be produced for the Local Plan. 

 

Human Resources 

 

1.14 The production of a Local Development Scheme has no identified impact on human 

resources.   

 

Community Safety  

 

1.15 The production of a Local Development Scheme has no identified impact on 

community safety. 

 

Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing 

 

 

1.16 The production of a Local Development Scheme has no identified impact on mental 

health and emotional well being 

 

Climate Change 

 

1.17 The production of a Local Development Scheme has no identified impact on climate 

change as it is scheme (timetable) for development plan production.  The Local Plan 

will include climate change policies and will be subject to a Sustainability Appraisal. 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1 The Council’s Vision is to “be the best district in which to live, work and visit”. The 

Local Plan and Planning have a key role to play in realising this vision. Housing that 

meets the needs of all residents is a key priority for South Kesteven District Council 

(SKDC). As detailed in the Corporate Plan (2020-2023), the Council considers high 

quality housing as essential for all and is committed to working with partners to 

provide this. Delivering the growth of the economy and building healthy and strong 

communities are also key themes in the Corporate Plan; these are integral to the 

policies Council’s Local Plan and delivering sustainable development.  

 

 

 

 

70



What are Local Plans? 

 

2.2 In England, the ‘plan-led’ approach to the regulation of land and development places 

local plans at the heart of the town and country planning system. Under this system, 

local plans form part of the statutory ‘development plan’ for an area.  This forms the 

starting point for the determination of planning applications unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.  

 

2.3 Chapter three of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out 

requirements for preparing a Local Plan which each local planning authority is 

expected to prepare, either singly, or jointly with other authorities. 

 

2.4 Paragraph 15 of the NPPF states that succinct and up-to-date plans should provide 

a positive vision for the future of each area; a framework for addressing housing 

needs and other economic, social, and environmental priorities; and a platform for 

local people to shape their surroundings. 

 

Local Plans – Sustainable Development 
 

2.5 The 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act places a duty on local authorities 

to carry out plan-making with the “objective of contributing to the achievement of 

sustainable development.” 

 

2.6 The Planning Act (2008) puts an additional obligation on plan-making authorities to 

ensure their development plan documents (taken as a whole) include policies that 

are “…designed to secure that the development and use of land in the local planning 

authority’s area contribute to the mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change.” 

Stages of Local Plan Preparation. 

 

 

Stages of Local Plan Preparation 

 

2.7 Local Plans must be succinct and up-to-date providing a positive vision for the future 

of the area and a framework for addressing housing needs and other economic, 

social, and environmental priorities. The preparation of the Local Plan will usually 

follow the stages outlined below:  

 

71



 
 

2.8 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) places a statutory 

duty on South Kesteven District Council to outline which documents will form part 

of the Council’s Local Plan within a document known as the Local Development 

Scheme (LDS). The LDS sets out a three-year programme for the preparation and 

future review of the Local Plan. The LDS informs developers, landowners, agents, 

and members of the public of the Council’s programme for the preparation of 

documents and the key stages to get involved in the planning making process.  

 

2.9 The LDS at Appendix A covers the period 2022-2025 and updates the previous 

version published in August 2020, covering the period 2020-2023.  
 

2.10 An LDS should be kept up to date to reflect the Council’s progress and to inform 

residents and stakeholders of each stage of the Local Plan review and opportunities 

to participate.  
 

2.11 The LDS contains background information, details of which documents the Council 

will produce or review over the period 2022-2025, and a profile and timetable to 

produce each strategic document. The LDS comprises the production timetable for 

the Local Plan review and sets out timelines for Supplementary Planning 

Documents (SPDs). In addition, the LDS highlights areas with Neighbourhood Plans 

(a type of development plan document proposed by a local Parish Council or a 

Neighbourhood Forum) along with areas which have made the commitment to 

prepare a Neighbourhood Plan, which once formally adopted, become part of the 

Development Plan for South Kesteven. 
 

2.12 When adopting the Local Plan in January 2020, the decision was taken by Council 

to proceed with an early review given this was a requirement stipulated within the 

1
•Evidence gathering and early stage consultation

2
•Call for sites

3
•Public consultation - Key issues and Options for the Local Plan Review 

4
•Public consultation on a Draft Consultative Local Plan

5
•Public consultation on the Pre-submission Local Plan

6
•Submission of Local Plan to the Secretary of State for Examination 

7
•Examination of Local Plan by Planning Inspectorate 

8
•Adoption of Local Plan

72



Planning Inspector’s final report, following the public examination into the Local 

Plan. The adopted Local Plan includes Policy M1: Review of the Local Plan. The 

policy states the Council will commit to undertake an early review of the Local Plan 

with submission to the Secretary of State by the end of December 2023.  

 

Progress made in reviewing the Local Plan  

2.13 The review of the Local Plan commenced in April 2020.  The new Local Plan will set 

out the planning framework for the district over the next 20 years, up to 2041, and 

covers issues such as: housing provision, the economy, retail and town centres, 

infrastructure provision and the environment. It will set out policies by which 

planning applications will be determined, in addition to allocating land for housing, 

employment and retail uses.   

 

2.14 The previous LDS was approved at the start of the Local Plan review in August 

2022. Since that decision, there have been several factors delaying the process, 

which include: 

 

• Delays in obtaining key evidence base documents to support the Local Plan, 

some of which has been outside the control of the Planning Policy Team, due to 

the reasons outlined below. 

• The Council received an unprecedented high volume of consultation responses 

to the first consultation stage of the Local Plan (Issues & Options).  Each 

response was responded to through the published Statement of Consultation 

and all responses are being considered through the preparation of the draft plan.  

This contributed to the delay of the subsequent stage of consultation.    

• The Coronavirus Pandemic and national lockdowns impacting Local Plan 

production – a key piece of evidence required for the Local Plan review is a 

review of Gypsy & Traveller accommodation needs.  A key part of evidence 

gathering is site visits and speaking with our G&T community. This was unable 

to take place during the pandemic.   

• Due to the pandemic, the Council was unable to gain a true picture of the 

services and facilities within settlements across the district. This delayed work 

on the settlement hierarchy which is a key piece of evidence to inform the Local 

Plan. 

• Due to the pandemic, the Statement of Community Involvement had to be 

updated to reflect national changes in public consultation procedures.  The 

update was unplanned and delayed work on other areas of plan development. 

• A key piece of evidence required to inform the Local Housing Needs 

Assessment is the production of a Local Housing Needs Assessment (LHNA).  

To ensure the LHNA is up to date and robust, the Council awaited the release 

of the summer 2022 census data.  However, the Council ensured that the 

consultants were instructed to enable them to hit the ground running. Other 

Councils in our housing market area also took the same approach. 

73



• The Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill was published in May 2022 and 

introduces huge changes to the planning system which will impact how Local 

Plans are produced. The Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill was debated at 

second reading on Wednesday 8 June 2022 and has now been sent to a Public 

Bill Committee which will scrutinise the Bill line by line and is expected to report 

to the House by Thursday 20 October 2022.  A number of councils nationally are 

delaying or withdrawing Local Plan production due to uncertainties around 

planning reform and the emerging Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill.  At South 

Kesteven Council, the uncertainty resulted in the delay of commissioning 

evidence given the wide-ranging changes that have been suggested through 

national planning reform. 

 

Mitigation 
 

2.15     The mitigation measures which have been put in place to ensure the new     

timetable is adhered to are: 

 

• The Local Plan’s project plan has been reviewed and updated.   

• External consultants will be managed effectively to ensure deadlines set out 

in the project brief are met.  

• Gyspy & Traveller accommodation site visits and face to face meetings, 

which were affected by Covid restrictions, have resumed. 

• A review of village services and facilities, which was delayed due to Covid, 

has resumed. 

• The summer 2022 census information required to inform the Local Housing 

Needs Assessment has been released and consultants instructed. 

Forthcoming Census releases will be considered through the project. 

• Whilst legislative and national policy changes will be monitored, the review 

of the Local Plan will continue as timetabled. 

 

The New Local Plan Timetable 

 

2.16 The process of producing a Local Plan involves different stages, many of which 

require the Council to consult with stakeholders and residents. The expected 

timetable for key milestones in the preparation of the Local Plan and the detail of 

each stage is set out below.   

 

74



Plan Stage Regulation Agreed 
timetable 
(August 
2020) 

Revised timetable 
(2022 Draft Local 
Development 
Scheme) 

Status 

Commencement 
of Document 
Preparation 

  April 2020 Completed 

Consultation on 
the scope of the 
Plan 

Regulation 
18 

 12 October – 23 
November 2020 

Completed 

Consultation on 
the Draft Local 
Plan 

Regulation 
18 

Summer 
2022 

February/March 
2023 

Not started 

Consultation on 
the Pre-
Submission 
Local Plan 

Regulation 
19 

Spring 
2023 

September/October 
2023 

Not started 

Submission Regulation 
22 

December 
2023 

March 2024 Not started 

Examination Regulation 
24 

Spring 
2024 

March/April 2024 – 
March 2025 

Not started 

Inspector’s 
Report 

Regulation 
25 

 March 2025 Not started 

Adoption Regulation 
26 

Late 
2024/early 
2025 

April 2025 Not started 

 

2.17 The proposed revised timetable considers the best information currently available 

and reflects lead in times to obtain consents and approvals to move between the 

different stages of the Local Plan. Whilst the delay on the draft Local Plan 

consultation is approximately six months, flexibility was built into the timetable which 

results in a delay in submitting the Local Plan to the Secretary of State of three 

months. 

  

2.18 Further detail for each plan stage is included at Appendix B. 

 

 

Next Steps 

 

2.19 The next steps are: 

 

• Implementation of the new Local Plan timetable and project plan. 

• Notify key stakeholders including, all District Councillors and the Town and 

Parish Council.   

• In accordance with regulatory requirements, if approved, the LDS will be 

published onto the Council’s website; and 

 

75



• Whilst the Council is under no obligation to inform the Secretary of State of 

timescales for Local Plan production, the Council considers it prudent to notify 

the Secretary of State, via the Planning Inspectorate, of the revised LDS and 

timetable for submission to ensure that the Planning Inspectorate can 

adequately resource the Local Plan examination.  This is identified as a 

mitigation measure within the LDS. 

 

2.20 The LDS will be monitored and considered on an annual basis through the Authority 

Monitoring Report (AMR), which sets out the list of documents included and 

considers any changes and updates. 

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 The Council is required to keep the LDS up to date and publish on the website.  The 

prepared amendments to the timetable would reflect progress in the preparation of 

the Local Plan review.    

 

3.2 The Council has a legal duty to ensure that the LDS is kept up to date. The 

previously agreed timetable is out of date and requires amending.   

 

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 The alternative of not reviewing the Local Development Scheme has been 

discounted. Failing to keep the Local Development Scheme up to date would 

contravene the statutory requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Planning 

Act 2004 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011) and Town and Country Planning 

(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 12. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 The reason for the recommendation is to ensure the Council is providing an up-to-

date position and an accurate timeline for the production of the LDS.  This way the 

Council will be acting in accordance with the requirements of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).   

 

5.2 It is important to establish and maintain a robust timetable for the Local Plan review. 

Supporting the continuity of the planning function in South Kesteven will aid the 

recovery of the local economy and the economic resilience of the district by 

providing greater certainty and confidence for future investment and development.  

 

5.3  The Council has a legal duty to ensure the LDS is kept up to date. As the current 

LDS is out of date, it is necessary to update it to reflect the changes. This is 

important because the local community and others with an interest in the district, 

need to be aware of the timetable.  

 

76



5.4 As indicated at paragraph 2.14, several factors have contributed to the delays which 

have resulted in the published timetable becoming out of date.  It is worthy of note 

that several Local Authorities have delayed their local plans pending the publication 

of the new legislation.   

 

5.5 More recently, there has been a delay in the consultants working on some of the 

evidence base, pending the publication of the most recent census data in July 2022.  

Work could have progressed using the previous evidence base, however that would 

have potentially resulted in abortive work or evidence that was already out of date.   

 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 Consultation on the Local Development Scheme is not a regulatory requirement.  

 

6.2       A key element to the preparation of the Local Plan Review is the Council’s approach 

to consulting and engaging the community on the South Kesteven Local Plan. The 

Local Plan goes through several stages of preparation.  It will be important to clearly 

set out how and when people can become involved in the process. Significant 

consultation will be undertaken throughout all the stages of preparing and producing 

the Local Plan Review. In undertaking consultation, the Council must comply with 

its adopted Statement of Community Involvement (SCI).  

 

7. Background Papers 
 

7.1 List any background papers and where they can be accessed. 

 

Chapter three of the National Planning Policy Framework, published 27 March 

2012, available online via: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-

framework/3-plan-making 

 

 

8. Appendices 
 

8.1     Appendix A: Local Development Scheme 

 

8.2     Appendix B: Summary of the Stages of Local Plan production 

 

 

 

 

 

77

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/3-plan-making
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/3-plan-making


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Kesteven District Council 

 

Local Development Scheme 

2022-2025 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

October 2022

79

Appendix A



South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 

i 
 

Contents 
 

1. Introduction .......................................................................................................... 1 

2. Background ......................................................................................................... 2 

3. South Kesteven Local Plan .................................................................................. 3 

Current Local Plan ................................................Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan ....................................................... 3 

Neighbourhood Plans .......................................................................................... 4 

4. Local Development Programme .......................................................................... 5 

South Kesteven Local Plan .................................................................................. 5 

Other Documents to be Produced ....................................................................... 7 

5. Risks to Production .............................................................................................. 8 

6. Monitoring .......................................................................................................... 10 

 

Tables 
 

Table 1: South Kesteven Local Plan Profile ............................................................... 6 

Table 2: Key Milestones and Timescales ................................................................... 6 

Table 3: Arrangements for Production ........................................................................ 7 

Table 4: Risks to Production and Propose Mitigation Measures ................................ 8 
 

Appendices 
 

Appendix 1: Local Development Plan Timetable 

Appendix 2: Glossary 

 

80



South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

1 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is a project plan to inform the community and 

other partners what strategic planning documents are being prepared over the next 

three years. It identifies key milestones in their preparation, including the stages where 

documents will be made available for consultation.  

 

1.2 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the Planning Act 

2008 and Localism Act 2011) requires a Local Planning Authority (LPA) to prepare 

and maintain an LDS setting out the Development Plan Documents (DPD) to be 

produced, the subject matter, and geographical area.  

 

1.3 The LDS is a public document and provides a starting point for the local community 

and others to find out about the Council’s programme for the preparation of documents 

that will form the South Kesteven Local Plan or be supplementary to it.  

 

1.4 This LDS covers the period 2022-2025 and supersedes the Council’s previous LDS 

published in August 2020.  

 

1.5 The LDS sets out an updated timetable for the review of the Local Plan and contains: 

 

• Background information to provide context for the LDS 

• Details of which documents the Council will produce or review over the period 

2022-2025, and how they relate to each other 

• A profile and timetable to produce each strategic document. 

 

1.6 It is our intention to keep the timetable set out in the LDS, however there may be 

occasions when there will be a need to make future revisions to the timetable and 

documents. We will consider the need for revisions to the LDS on an annual basis and 

publish up to date information on the Local Plan via our website.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

81



South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

2 
 

2. Background  
 

2.1 Development Plan Documents (DPDs) form part of the statutory development plan for 

the area. The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England Regulation 2012 

now refers to DPDs as ‘Local Plans’.  

 

2.2 Local Plans are prepared in order to guide investment and development in a district, 

borough, or county over a 20-year period. They shape how the district grows over this 

period, being a key tool in deciding the housing, retail and business needs of the 

community will be provided, and how important countryside, ecological and heritage 

features are to be protected. They are subject to an independent examination by a 

planning inspector and undergo rigorous procedures of community involvement and 

consultation.  

 

2.3 Local Plans are subject to community consultation in accordance with the 

requirements of a Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI). The SCI sets 

out the Council’s approach to engaging with the public and other stakeholders during 

the plan preparation and when consulting on planning applications. The latest SCI1 

was adopted October 2021.  

 

2.4 The Local Plan will also include Policies Maps. This is a map of an Ordnance Survey 

base for the whole of the LPAs area which shows where policies in the Local Plan 

apply. To help maintain a geographical frame of reference, the South Kesteven Local 

Plan includes inset maps for some areas to show information at a larger scale. The 

Policies Map may be updated each time a DPD/Local Plan is adopted.  

 

2.5 An integral part of producing a Local Plan is the Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic 

Environmental Assessment (SA/SEA). The SA/SEA is produced in tandem with the 

Local Plan and ensures the Local Plan adopts, as far as possible, the most sustainable 

options in an environment, economic and social context having been assessed 

against all other realistic options and alternatives.  

 

2.6 There is a legal requirement, through the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulation 2017 (as amended), to consider whether new Local Plans are likely to 

have a significant effect on European sites of nature conservation importance. A 

Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) will be prepared and published for each DPD.  

 

2.7 LPAs may also prepare Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) to provide 

further guidance on adopted policies. They can cover a wide range of issues which 

may be thematic (e.g. affordable housing) or site specific (e.g. development briefs). 

The do not form part of the DPD, however are taken into account in determining 

 
1 Statement of Community Involvement (southkesteven.gov.uk) 

82

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=14095


South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

3 
 

planning applications. They are not subject to independent examination, although are 

subject to community consultation in accordance with the requirements of the SCI.  

 

2.8 Details of adopted SPDs are available on the Council’s website. In the event that 

adopted SPDs are reviewed, or new ones are proposed, detailed will be published on 

the website.  

 

3. South Kesteven Local Plan  
 

3.1 At the time this LDS comes into effect, South Kesteven District Council has adopted 

the following documents. These documents constitute the statutory development plan 

for South Kesteven, with policies forming the starting point for decisions on all planning 

applications in the area.  

 

3.2 The Local Plan for South Kesteven currently comprises the: 

 

Current Local Plan  

 

3.3 The Local Plan2 (2011-2036) (Adopted 31st January 2020), sets out the strategic 

planning framework and vision for the District to 2036, identifying housing and 

employments sites in Grantham, Stamford, Bourne, The Deepings, and a number of 

Larger Villages.  

 

Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

3.4 Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) are responsible for the production, monitoring and 

review of a Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  

 

3.5 The Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan3 (LMWLP) is made up of two parts, 

the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (CSDMP) (adopted June 

2016) and the Sites Location Document (adopted December 2017) which forms part 

of the development plan for the District.  

 

3.6 The LMWLP sets out 

 

• The key principles to guide future winning and working of minerals and the form of 

waste management in the country up to 2031; 

• The criteria against which planning applications for mineral and waste 

development will be considered; and 

 
2 SKDC Local Plan (southkesteven.gov.uk) 
3 Minerals and waste – Lincolnshire County Council 

83

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=14904
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/planning/minerals-waste


South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

4 
 

• Specific proposals and policies for the provision of land for minerals and waste 

development 

 

Neighbourhood Plans 

3.7 Neighbourhood Planning was introduced with the Localism Act 2011 enabling Parish 

and Town Councils or designated Neighbourhood Forums (in an area without a 

Parish) to prepare Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDPs), Neighbourhood 

Development Order and Community Right to Build Orders. These allow for residents 

of local community to shape the future of their local area. 

 

3.8 Neighbourhood Plans are subject to community consultation, an independent 

examination by an Inspector and a local referendum process. Once made, these 

documents form part of the statutory development plan for the area.  

 

3.9 The current adopted NDPs are: 

 

• Hough-on-the-Hill (adopted July 2015) 

• Foston (adopted June 2017) 

• Long Bennington (adopted July 2017) 

• Colsterworth and District (adopted September 2017) 

• Skillington (adopted September 2017) 

• Subton (adopted July 2015) 

• Thurlby (adopted March 2019) 

• Carlby (adopted March 2019) 

• Old Somerby (adopted June 2021) 

• Ropsley and District (adopted June 2021) 

• The Deepings (adopted June 2021) 

• Stamford (adopted July 2022) 

 

3.10 The timetable for preparing an NDP is for the local community preparing the Plan to 

determine, therefore timetables for NDPs are not included in the LDS.  

 

3.11 Details of NDPs being prepared in South Kesteven and the stage they have reached 

are available on the Council’s website4. 

 

 

 

 

 
4 Neighbourhood planning (southkesteven.gov.uk) 

84

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8161


South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

5 
 

4. Local Development Programme 
 

4.1  The documents the Council will prepare over the next three years are: 

 

South Kesteven Local Plan 

4.2 The Council is preparing a new Local Plan, which when adopted, will replace all 

existing adopted Local Plan documents.  

 

4.3 In the current adopted Local Plan, the Council is committed to an early review of the 

adopted Local Plan 2011-2036. The Local Plan was submitted to the Secretary of 

State for examination during the transition period, therefore it was examined against 

the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2012.  

 

4.4 An early review of the Local Plan will enable policies and proposals to take account of 

the revised National Policy introduced in July 2018 and further revised in 2021.   

 

4.5 The review policy in the adopted Local Plan required the Council to commence 

document preparation from April 2020, with submission to the Secretary of State for 

examination to be anticipated by the end of December 2023.  

 

4.6 Specific matters will be addressed in the review, but are not limited to the following 

 

• The progress being made towards implementation of the spatial strategy for South 

Kesteven, in particular the focus on development in Grantham to be achieved by 

the end of the plan period 

• Taking account of the latest National Planning Framework, particularly in relation 

to the assessment of housing needs and future requirement for employment land; 

and 

• Further assessment of the needs of the Gypsy and Traveller Community, including 

Travelling Showpeople, and the need to allocate land to meet identified needs.  

 

4.7 The revised Local Plan will set out the strategic direction for development in the 

District.  

 

4.8 The Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) will be the mechanism for monitoring the 

effects of policies in the current Local Plan, and if during this period it is apparent that 

policies are ineffective or not satisfactory in achieving desired outcomes, relevant 

steps will be put in place to ensure this is addressed through the review of the Local 

Plan.  

 

4.9 The document profile is set out below. The expected timetable for the key milestones 

in preparing the Local Plan review are contained in Table 2 and Appendix 1.  

85



South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

6 
 

Table 1: South Kesteven Local Plan Profile 

South Kesteven Local Plan Profile 
 

Role and Subject Strategic document setting out the vision, objectives 

and spatial strategy for the District. It will outline how 

the known development requirements for the District will 

be met to 2041, including the amount of housing and 

employment land requirements. It will include 

development management policies, and if required, site 

allocations. 

Geographical Coverage District wide. 

Status Development Plan Document. Once adopted it will 

replace the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036. 

Chain of Conformity General conformity with the 2018 National Planning 

Policy Framework (NPPF). The Policies Map will be 

revised and updated on the adoption of the DPD/Local 

Plan. Any other South Kesteven DPD/SPDs to be 

consistent with the Local Plan. 

 

Table 2: Key Milestones and Timescales 

Key Milestones 

 

Regulation Timescale 

Commencement of 

document preparation 

 Completed: April 2020 

Consultation on the scope 

of the Plan 

Regulation 18 Completed: 12 October – 

23 November 2020 

Consultation on Draft 

Local Plan 

Regulation 18 February/March 2023 

Consultation on the Pre-

submission Local Plan 

Regulation 19 September/October 2023 

Submission 

 

Regulation 22 March 2024 

Examination 

 

Regulation 24 March/April 2024 – March 

2025 

Inspector’s Report 

 

Regulation 25 March 2025 

Adoption Regulation 26 April 2025 

 

 

 

86



South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

7 
 

Table 3: Arrangements for Production 

Arrangements for Production 

 

Lead Organisation South Kesteven District Council Planning Policy 

Team with support from other Council service 

areas and partner organisations 

Political Management Cabinet decision at relevant key stages and 

milestones. Full Council decision at submission 

and adopted stages. Growth Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee may also consider versions 

of the emerging Local Plan and make 

recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate 

Community and Stakeholder 

Involvement 

Stakeholder and community involvement using 

a range of consultation methods in accordance 

with the adopted SCI 

Monitoring and Review The Local Plan Monitoring Framework will be 

monitored on an annual basis 

 

Other Documents to be Produced 

 

Supplementary Planning Documents 

4.10 There is no longer a requirement for the LDS to include a programme for the 

preparation of any other planning documents the LPA intends to produce. For this 

reason, the timeline in Appendix 1 only includes details of South Kesteven’s DPDs. 

 

4.11 In the interest of transparency, it is proposed that a Developer Contribution 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPDs) will be produced following the introduction 

of the Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill and the new Infrastructure Levy. 

 

4.12 A SPD for the Stamford North Local Plan allocation, which extends into Rutland, is in 

production. 

 

Neighbourhood Planning 

 

4.13 The qualifying bodies in Barrowby, Baston, Bourne, Carlton Scroop and Normanton, 

Castle Bytham, Claypole, Corby Glen, Pointon and Sempringham, and Rippingale 

87



South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

8 
 

(formally Aveland) are currently leading on preparations of NDPs in their areas. The 

Council is supporting the Parish Councils in the preparation of their draft NDPs.  

 

4.14 The Council will also support other neighbourhood plans which may come forward 

throughout the District.  

 

Evidence Base 

 

4.15 Plans need to be supported by a robust evidence base. Evidence studies have been 

completed to support the preparation of the DPDs to date.  

 

4.16 The evidence base will be continued to be updated and expanded as the review of 

the South Kesteven Local Plan is prepared. This will include reviewing existing studies 

as necessary to make sure they remain relevant and up to date. It may also involve 

the joint commissioning of work with neighbouring authorities or other partners.  

 

5. Risks to Production 
 

5.1 The preparation of the review of the Local Plan presents a number of risks which could 

affect the work programme and timetable. These can be addressed through robust 

planning. The key risks and proposed mitigation measures that may need to be 

implemented in order to ensure sound documents are prepared in a timely manner, 

are identified in the table below: 

Table 4: Risks to Production and Propose Mitigation Measures 

Risk Impact Mitigation 
 

Changes to the Planning System 
 

Changes in legislation 
or to National Planning 
Policy 

Regulations may have 
implications for the plan 
preparation, including 
additional work. 

Continued awareness of 
forthcoming legislative and 
major policy changes. Ensure 
resources are in place to 
implement any changes to 
procedures or handle 
increased work load. 

Process 
 

Higher than expected 
response to 
consultation 

The officer resource/time 
to process and consider 
representations may be 
increased. This could 
delay timing of key 
milestones e.g. 

Deploy additional resources to 
record and appraise 
representations. 

88



South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

9 
 

Submission of the Plan to 
Secretary of State for 
examination. 

COVID-19 restrictions Consultation operations 
could be affected whereby 
‘normal’ consultation 
techniques may not be 
available.  

Review the SCI to account for 
COVID-19 restrictions.  

The Planning 
Inspectorate (PINS) 
unable to meet the 
timetable. (PINS set the 
timetable for the 
examination process 
following submission of 
a DPD) 
 

Once submitted, the 
process of the Plan to 
timetable is heavily 
dependent on the ability of 
PINS to resource it. 
Examination and/or 
Inspectors report delayed, 
and key milestones not 
met. 

Liaise with PINS on timetable 
and provide early notification 
of anticipated submission 
date. 

Failure to comply with 
Duty to Cooperate 

Failure to demonstrate that 
the Duty to Cooperate was 
satisfied would render the 
Plan unsound. 

Develop and implement a 
Duty to Cooperate Plan 
ensuring the Council 
effectively engages with Duty 
to Co-Cooperate partners from 
the beginning of the plan 
making process at Officer and 
Member Level. 

Plan being found 
unsound 

The Plan cannot process 
to adoption if it is found 
unsound by an Inspector 
following examination.  
Additional work would be 
required, and the adoption 
of the Plan delayed. 

Ensure we have a complete, 
clear and up to date evidence 
base, including continued 
engagement with the 
community and key 
stakeholders. Completion of 
soundness and legal 
compliance self-assessment 
checklist at each stage. 

Legal challenge to the 
Local Plan 

Part or all the document 
could be challenged by 
third party. 

Engagement of critical friend 
to review and advise at key 
stages and Planning 
Inspectorate visit before 
submission.  
Seek legal advice as and 
when required. 
Keep up to date with best 
practice through training and 
the Planning Advisory Service 
(PAS) website. 

Resources 
 

Reduced number of 
officers and knowledge 
within the team 

This cannot always be 
avoided or predicted. 
Significant and constant 

Encourage teamwork as part 
of day to day working so all 
staff have some knowledge 

89



South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

10 
 

because of staff 
sickness/turnover. 

staff turnover would 
severely affect the 
Council’s ability to achieve 
the time scales set out 
within the LDS 

about all the projects currently 
being undertaken.  
Secondments or short-term 
contacts may be necessary 
subject to financial constraints. 

Financial resources Unforeseen issues can 
arise during the 
preparation of the Local 
Plan. 

Careful project planning to 
avoid unplanned work.  
Keep under review 
opportunities for joint 
commissioning of evidence 
base studies. 

Failure of external 
consultants 

The failure of external 
consultation to deliver 
required specialist support 
could impact on the ability 
to achieve the time scales 
set out. 

Ensure objectives are clearly 
stated in project brief.  
Arrange regular updates and 
meetings with the consultant. 

6. Monitoring 
 

6.1 Progress against the LDS will be reviewed annually and reported through the Authority 

Monitoring Report (AMR). This will enable consideration of changes, if any, that may 

be required to the LDS including revisions to the Local Plan timetable. Any changes 

will be brought forward through a review of the LDS. 

 

6.2 During the year, progress on the preparations of the Local Plan will be published on 

the Councils website, ensuring the local community and others with an interest in the 

Local Plan are kept informed.  

 

 

 

 

90



South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

 
 

Appendix 1: Local Development Plan Timetable 

 

 

 

Key 

Public Consultation 

Preparation 

Submission 

Examination 

Hearing Sessions 

Year

Quarter 2

Month Apr M ay Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb M ar Apr M ay Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb M ar Apr M ay Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb M ar Apr M ay Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb M ar Apr M ay Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb M ar Apr

Commencement of 

document 

preparation

Consultation on the 

scope of the Plan 

(Regulation 18)

Consultation on the 

Draft Local Plan 

(Regulation 18)

Consultation on the 

Pre-submission 

Local Plan 

(Regulation 19)

Submission

(Regulation 22) 

Examination

(Regulation 24)

Inspector's Report

Regulation 25)

Main Modifications

(Regulation 25)

Adoption

(Regulation 26)

2020 2021
2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3

2022 2023
1 2 3 44

2024 2025
3 4 11 2

91



South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

 
 

Appendix 2: Glossary 

Community Right to Build Order - an Order made by the local planning authority 
(under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) that allows a local community group 
to bring forward a small development for one or more purposes, such as new homes, 
businesses and community facilities, but it must be small scale in comparison to the 
size of settlement. 

 
Development Plan Documents (DPDs) - They are spatial planning documents that 
are subject to independent examination. There is a right for those making 
representations seeking change to be heard at an independent examination. 
 
Local Development Framework (LDF) - This term has been replaced by the term 
‘Local Plan’. It was used to describe a portfolio of Local Development Documents that 
provide a framework for delivering the spatial planning strategy for the area. It also 
contained a number of other documents, including the Annual Monitoring Report, and 
any 'saved' plans that affect the area. This term is now replaced by ‘Local Plan’. 
 
Localism Act 2011 - Government legislation containing wide range of reforms to the 
planning system. 
 
Local Plan - The new term for the suite of Development Plan documents. It may 
consist of a single or number of Development Plan Documents. 
 
Local Planning Authority (LPA)- The public authority whose duty it is to carry out 
specific planning functions for a particular area. 
 
Local Development Scheme (LDS) - sets out the programme for the preparation of 
local development documents. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - sets out the Governments planning 
policies. Replaces all previous Planning Policy Statements and associated Guidance. 
 
Neighbourhood Development Order - an Order made by a local planning authority 
(under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) which allows communities to grant 
planning permission for development they want to see go ahead in a neighbourhood. 
It enables them to allow certain developments to be built without the need to apply for 
planning permission. 
 
Neighbourhood Development Plans - The Plans are prepared by a parish council 
or neighbourhood forum for a particular neighbourhood area (made under the 
Localism Act 2011) and have to be in general conformity with the district plan, undergo 
Examination and a Referendum. After adoption they are used (alongside other policy 
documents) to determine planning applications. 
 
Planning Inspectorate (PINS) - an independent Government agency that processes 
planning and enforcement appeals and holds inquiries into development plan 
documents. 
 

92



South Kesteven District Council – Local Development Scheme 2022-2025 
 

 
 

Policies Map - the policies map illustrates all policies and proposals contained in 
DPDs, together with any saved policies. Previously known as the Proposals Map. 
 
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) - sets out the standards which the plan-
making authority intends to achieve in relation to involving the community in the 
preparation, alteration and continuing review of all planning policy documents and in 
development management decisions. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) - an assessment of the environmental 
effects of policies, plans and programmes, required by European legislation, which will 
be part of the public consultation on the policies. 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) - these cover a wide range of issues 
on which the plan making authority wishes to provide guidance to supplement the 
policies and proposals in development plan documents. They do not form part of the 
development plan and are not subject to independent examination. 
 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) - a tool for appraising policies to ensure they reflect 
sustainable development objectives (i.e. social, environmental and economic factors). 
 

Abbreviations 

AMR – Authority’s Monitoring Report 
DPD - Development Plan Document  
LDF - Local Development Framework 
LDS - Local Development Scheme 
LMWLP - Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan  
LPA - Local Planning Authority 
MWDF - Minerals and Waste Development Framework 
NDP - Neighbourhood Development Plan 
PINS - Planning Inspectorate 
SA - Sustainability Appraisal 
SCI - Statement of Community Involvement 
SEA - Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SPD - Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

93



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B of the Local Development Scheme Cabinet Report 

 

Stages of Local Plan Production as detailed in the Local 

Development Scheme (October 2022) 

 

Stage 1: Evidence gathering – ongoing throughout the review 

 

Stage 2: Call for Sites – October 2020 – September 2022 

 

As part of the Housing and Employment Land Availability Assessment, the Council 

issued a call for sites. Developers, landowners, agents, and the public were invited 

to submit sites to the Council for assessment to see if they are suitable for inclusion 

within the Local Plan.  

 

Stage 3: Public Consultation – Key issues and Options for the Local Plan 

Review (Regulation 18) October – November 2020 

 

This stage provided an opportunity for local residents and other key stakeholders 

to engage with the Council on the key issues regarding the scope of the Local Plan. 

The consultation asked a series of questions to help the council determine the 

scope and content of the Local Plan Review. The Issues and Options consultation 

was published for a six-week period.  

 

Stage 4: Public Consultation on a Draft Consultative Local Plan (Regulation 

18) February/March 2023 

 

Consultation on the draft Local Plan is not a regulatory requirement as regulation 

18 consultation has already been undertaken at the Issues & Options stage 

(October 2020).  However, producing a draft plan gives the community, 

stakeholders and interested parties the opportunity to contribute to and shape the 

Local Plan as it evolves. 

 

Stage 5: Public consultation on the Pre-submission Local Plan (Regulation 

19) September/October 2023 

 

Prior to submission of the Local Plan for examination, the Council must consult the 

public on a draft Local Plan, this will also include the development management 

policies and sites allocated for future housing, employment and retail development. 

The document will be made available for a minimum of a six-week period of 

consultation with local residents and other key stakeholders, and all valid 

representation made will be passed onto the independent Inspector appointed to 

examine the draft Local Plan.    

 

  

95

Appendix B



Stage 6: Submit Local Plan to Secretary of State for Examination 

(Regulation 22) March 2024 

 

Following the Regulation 19 Public Consultation on the Draft Local Plan, the draft 

Local Plan and associated documents will be submitted to the Secretary of State. 

This stage triggers the independent examination of the document. 

 

Stage 7: Examination of Local Plan by Planning Inspectorate (Regulation 

24) March/April 2024 – March 2025 

 

The Secretary of State will appoint an independent Inspector (from the Planning 

Inspectorate). Following the examination, the Inspector will produce a report in 

order to determine whether or not the plan can be considered to be ‘sound’. This 

report may include changes to the draft Local Plan where the Inspector feels that 

these are necessary to ensure that the plan is sound. 

 

Stage 8: Adoption of Local Plan (Regulation 26) April 2025 

 

The final stage in the plan making process is the formal adoption of a Plan. In 

accordance with the Council’s constitution, the adoption of the Local Plan must 

take place at a meeting of Full Council. Following adoption, the Local Plan will 

become the main document against which decisions on planning applications will 

be made. 
 

96



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2022  
 
Report of Councillor Kelham Cooke 
                The Leader of the Council  
 
 

 

Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under 

delegated powers 
 

Report Author 

Lucy Bonshor, Democratic Officer 

  l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members since 

the last meeting of the Cabinet on 22 September 2022. 

 

Recommendations 

That Cabinet: 

1. Notes the content of this report. 

 

 

Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? No 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

 

97

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1.1 Following the postponement of the Cabinet meeting from 13 September 2022 to 

the 22 September 2022, the following Key and Non-Key decisions have been 

taken under delegated authority:  

1.1.1 Replacement of South Kesteven’s Corporate Website 

Non-Key decision taken by the Leader of the Council on 14 September 2022. 

Date decision effective: 23 September 2022 

The Decision Notice is attached at Appendix 1. The accompanying report can be 

viewed online at: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1220  

 

1.2 Any decision made after the publication of the agenda will be reported at the next 

meeting of the Cabinet.  

 

98

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1220


 
 

CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION 

 
 

Decision:    

 
That approval is granted to approve the direct award of a contract to Big Blue Door 
for 2 years with an option to extend for a further 2 year in order to manage the 
implementation and ongoing hosting of a new corporate website. 
 
(1) Details of Decision 

 
 This report is to recommend the replacement of the 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk website with a new hosted solution to provide an 
improved website offer to our residents, businesses, and visitors. 
 

(2) Considerations/Evidence 
 

 The reasons for a replacement website are: 

• The current system is 8 years old and the functionality and layout is no 
longer aligned with the ‘best in class’ in the marketplace. 

• The content management software (CMS) the website is based upon 
has now reached its end of useful life. 

• The website is hosted in-house which is a risk to business continuity 
and on-going resilience. 

• It is not currently meeting all the requirements that are set out in the 
Public Sector Bodies (Websites and Mobile Applications) Accessibility 
Regulations 2018 (Appendix 1). 

 
The organisation Big Blue Door are website developers who are approved by 
GCloud and have an extensive customer portfolio having supported a high 
number of public sector clients on website implementation projects using an 
approved quality CMS.  They have a proven record in delivering and hosting 
quality local government websites and positive references have been 
received from the existing customer base. Using GCloud allows for direct 
awarding so the proposed route is fully compliant with Contract Procedure 
Rules. 
 
In order to bolster resilience, ensure continuity of service during times of 
business disruption and ensure ongoing support, it is recommended that the 
website is externally hosted by the recommended provider.    
 
Should approval be granted then a project team will be established in order to 
review the current website content and support a smooth migration to the 

99

Appendix 1

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 

newly designed website. 
 

(3) Reasons for Decision: 
 

 It allows for the sharing over coding between Councils helping to drive 
improvements and minimise costs. 
 
Big Blue Door have a proven record having worked with several other local 
authorities on their corporate website using the same CMS software. 
 
As other Lincolnshire authorities use the same system it allows for potential 
sharing or partnering of resource in the future. 
 
Gcloud allows for direct awarding of the contract which will be a 2 year 
contract with the ability to extend for an optional further 2 years. 
 
The costs are within budgeted levels. 
 

 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded). 
 
None 
 
Dispensations 
 
(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted). 
 
None 
 
Decision taken by: 
 
Name: Councillor Kelham Cooke 
Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Growth 
 
Date of Decision: 14 September 2022 
 
Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 15 September 2022 
 
Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups): 
 
23 September 2022 

100



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Kelham Cooke 
                The Leader of the Council  
 
 

 

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 7 October 

2022 to 6 October 2023 
 

Report Author 

Lucy Bonshor, Democratic Officer 

  l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan.  
 

Recommendations 

That Cabinet: 

1. Notes the content of this report. 

 

 

Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? No 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for 
publication? 

No  

What are the relevant 
corporate priorities?  

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 
 

101

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

1. Cabinet’s Forward Plan 
 

1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information)  (England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements 

for publicity in connection with Key Decisions. The Council meets these 

legislative requirements through the monthly publication of its Forward Plan. 

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make 

recommendations to Council or review the contents and take necessary action. 

These items are also listed on the Forward Plan. 

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, 

items for consideration during the preceding year have been included in the 

Cabinet’s Forward Plan. The Forward Plan also includes details of items 

scheduled for each of the Council meetings due to be held within the plan 

period. 

2.0 Appendices 

2.1 Appendix 1 – Cabinet’s Forward Plan 

 

 

102



 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  
7 October 2022 to 6 October 2023 

 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make Key Decisions and Non-Key Decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
A Key Decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (for these purposes, South Kesteven 
District Council has agreed £200,000 as the threshold at which a decision will be considered significant); or 
 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A Non-Key Decision is one that is not a Key Decision. 
 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 

103

A
ppendix 1



 
Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council  
 

Summary Date Action Contact 

Remediation works for St Martins Park, Stamford - Key Decision 

To seek budget approval for the 
remediation works at St Martins Park, 
Stamford. 
 

18 Oct 
2022 
 
Council 
24 Nov 
2022 
 

To seek budget approval for 
the works. 
 

Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development and Growth (Councillor 
Kelham Cooke) 
 
Organisation Development Manager 
E-mail: Debbie.Roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Recharge Policy - Key Decision 

Cabinet to confirm the Councils approach to 
the recovery of recharges within its social 
housing landlord function. 
 

 

18 Oct 
2022 
 

To approve policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Compensation Policy - Key Decision 

The purpose of the report is to seek 
approval for the adoption of a 
compensation policy to be used across 
Housing Technical Services and Housing 
Services. 
 

18 Oct 
2022 
 

To approve the Policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Statement of Licensing Principles 2023-2026 - Key Decision 

The Council is required to review its 
Statement of Licensing Principles every 3 
years. The policy is included in the 
Council’s Policy Framework and is required 
to be statutorily adopted by the Council. 
 

8 Nov 2022 
 
Council 
24 Nov 
2022 
 

To recommend to Council 
that the Statement of 
Licensing Principles 2023-
2026 is adopted with or 
without amendments. 
 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing (Councillor Linda Wootten) 
 
Assistant Director for Operations and Public 
Protection 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

104



Summary Date Action Contact 

Contract Awards in relation to social landlord services - Key Decision 

To seek approval to award a contract for 
the servicing, repair and maintenance of 
heating systems within the Council’s 
assets, including its social housing stock. 
 

8 Nov 2022 
 

To approve the award of a 
contract for the servicing, 
repair and maintenance of 
heating systems within the 
Council’s assets, including its 
social housing stock. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy - Key Decision 

To adopt a robust policy around domestic 
abuse in relation to our social landlord 
responsibilities, ensuring that risk 
management is in place. 
 

8 Nov 2022 
 

To seek approval to adopt 
the policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (vehicle age at first licence) - Key Decision 

To consider the vehicle age at first licence 
criteria in the Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

That following the 12 July 
meeting of Cabinet the 
position be reviewed in three 
months, with a view to 
adopting the Government’s 
best practice. 
 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing (Councillor Linda Wootten) 
 
Assistant Director for Operations and Public 
Protection 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

A3 Units within the Cinema Building - Key Decision 

To seek approval of scheme. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To approve scheme. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Organisation Development Manager 
E-mail: Debbie.Roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

105



Summary Date Action Contact 

Theatre Roof Replacement Works Stamford Arts Centre - Key Decision 

To seek tender approval for works to 
Stamford Arts Centre Theatre Roof. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To approve tender. 
 

Cabinet Member for Culture & Visitor Economy 
(Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew) 
 
Procurement Lead 
E-mail: leah.wright@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

HRA Business Plan and Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 - Key Decision 

To consider the strategy 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
management Strategy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Local Council Tax Support Scheme - Budget 

To consider the Council’s Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme for the 2023/24 financial 
year. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To recommend to Council the 
Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme for 2023/24. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Leisure (Councillor 
Adam Stokes) 
 
Chief Finance Officer, Section 151 Officer 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Council Tax Base 2023/24 - Budget 

To determine the Council Tax Base to form 
the basis of the 2023/24 budget proposals 
to be recommended to Council. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To agree the Council Tax 
Base 2023/24. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Leisure (Councillor 
Adam Stokes) 
 
Chief Finance Officer, Section 151 Officer 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

106



Summary Date Action Contact 

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North - SPD 

To consider the proposed development 
brief for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation. 
 

10 Jan 
2023 
 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation. 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy 
(Councillor Nick Robins) 
 
Director of Planning and Culture  
E-mail: nicola.mccoy-
brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Draft Budget Proposals 2023/24 - Budget 

To consider the draft budget proposals for 
2023/24. 
 

10 Jan 
2023 
 

To agree draft budget 
proposals for 2023/24 for 
consultation. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Leisure (Councillor 
Adam Stokes) 
 
Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer, Section 
151 Officer 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Budget Proposals for 2023/24 - Budget 

To consider the proposed budget for 
2023/24. 
 

7 Feb 2023 
 
 
Council  
1 Mar 2023 
 

To make recommendation to 
Council on the budget 
proposals for 2023/24. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Leisure (Councillor 
Adam Stokes) 
 
Chief Finance Officer, Section 151 Officer 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

107



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Remediation works for St Martin's Park, Stamford
	5 Housing Compensation Policy
	Appendix 1  Draft Housing Compensation Policy
	Appendix 2 - EIA - Housing Compensation Policy

	6 Housing Recharge Policy
	Appendix 1  Draft Housing Recharge Policy
	Appendix 2 - EIA - Housing Re-charge Policy

	7 Local Development Scheme for the Local Plan
	Appendix A Local Development Scheme 2022-2025
	Appendix B of the LDS Cabinet Report

	8 Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers
	KC 14.09.22 SKWebsite

	9 Cabinet's Forward Plan
	Plan published 7 Oct 2022


